
FROM OUR ROOTS AS A WEST 
CORK COOPERATIVE, 
GROWING TO BECOME A 
GLOBAL EMPLOYER ACROSS 
EIGHT COUNTRIES, CARBERY 
STRIVES TO HAVE A POSITIVE 
IMPACT ON OUR PEOPLE, OUR 
PLANET AND THE 
COMMUNITIES WE OPERATE IN. 
THIS IS OUR ANNUAL REVIEW, 
  WHERE WE REPORT ON OUR 
PERFORMANCE, AND HOW WE 
HOLD OURSELVES ACCOUNTABLE 
TO OUR COMMITMENT TO BE 
A SUSTAINABLE, RESPONSIBLE 
BUSINESS. WE REFLECT ON 
WHAT WE HAVE LEARNED 
THROUGHOUT 2021, AND LOOK
AHEAD TO SUSTAINING 
OUR SUCCESS INTO
THE FUTURE.
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CARBERY AT A GLANCE

882
GLOBAL 

EMPLOYEES

1,230
FARMER

SHAREHOLDERS

12
GLOBAL

FACILITIES
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OPERATIONAL 
HIGHLIGHTS

OUR MISSION
50 years ago, our purpose was to create a 
stable and sustainable future for the farmers of 
West Cork. Today, we retain that commitment, 
and as a global company, consider a wider set 
of stakeholders, including our communities, 
customers, suppliers and the planet.

LITRES OF MILK PROCESSED 
IN BALLINEEN

612 million
MILK VOLUME

+2.7%

REVENUE

€535.7m
EBITDA

€50.1m
EBITA

€31.2m

17%

12%

10%

DIVISIONAL BREAKDOWN

DAIRY NUTRITION TASTE
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service, water quality in these 
areas is already showing signs 
of improvement through the 
implementation of some simple 
measures like managing run-off 
from roadways and safely 
managing spreading slurry. 

In 2018 Ireland was declared in 
a biodiversity crisis. Our farms 

must play our part in addressing this problem. In 2021, 
under the West Cork Trees project with SWS Forestry, 50 
native trees were given to every supplier. In total 105,000 
trees have been planted under this scheme since 2016, 
improving biodiversity and sequestering carbon on our 
farms. When Farm Zero C was announced as the winner of 
the Science Foundation Ireland competition it was a proud 
day for Carbery and our partners Shinagh Estates. The 
prize money will be used to fund further research into new 
climate improvement technologies which can be rolled out 
on to all our farms over the coming years. We look forward 
to welcoming more suppliers in to learn about Farm Zero 
C in 2022. 

Having been leaders in this space for many years, we must 
continue our work to remain leaders, and that means 
pushing ourselves to do more. Agriculture has been asked to 
play its part in the national effort to reduce carbon emissions 
by 50% by 2030. This will take a huge collective effort, and 
farmers have a central role to play here. Through our SDAS 
audits we can calculate that a kg of milk supplied to Carbery 
has a carbon footprint of 0.94 kgs of CO2. This figure drops 
to 0.84 for our Carbery Greener Dairy Farms. These figures 
are among the best in the world and by embracing new 
technologies we will continue to see improvement in these 
figures every year. We will continue to support Carbery 

Cormac O’Keeffe, 
Chairman

2021 AT A GLANCE 
I was appointed as the new Carbery Chairman midway 
through 2021 and I have very much enjoyed my term so 
far. I look forward to what lies ahead for our organisation 
in the coming years and feel lucky to have taken the helm 
during a period of exciting developments for the company. 
The challenges of the past year have proved we have built 
a resilient business, one that can survive challenges as well 
as take advantage of opportunities.

2021 has seen the first full 
season of production in our 
new facility in Ballineen, with 
the associated growth of new 
markets and routes for that 
mozzarella and other products. 
I know I am very proud to see 
the fine expansion completed 
in our Irish facility. On the 
flavours side, we acquired 
Innova Flavors in 2021, a 
further expansion of our flavour 
capabilities in the US and other 
markets. We continued to 
deal with the realities of Brexit, 
which compounded issues 
with an already compromised 
supply chain. And of course 
the challenges brought by 
managing Covid-19 remained, even as we welcomed 
positive developments in the form of vaccine rollout. At 
the beginning of Covid-19, there were concerns around food 
security and securing the food supply chain. We now see 
similar fears with the dire situation in Ukraine which brings 
further on-farm challenges around energy and feed costs. 
As farmers and food producers in 2021, the focus on farming 
in the climate debates was undeniable. How we deal with 
this challenge, while balancing food security needs, will 
shape agriculture and farming for the generations to come. 

SUSTAINABILITY 
The discussion around reducing Ireland’s emissions, and the 
role of agriculture in this reduction continued to be a focus in 
2021. We have always prided ourselves as Carbery suppliers 
that we are committed to sustainability and have often 
been ahead of the curve in introducing more sustainable 
practices in our facilities and on farm. 

Throughout 2021 this focus continued. Working with 
Teagasc we are supporting the SignPost Farms initiative 
where best farming and environmental practices are 
being demonstrated side by side. Shinagh Farm, home of 
Farm Zero C, is a SignPost farm. We continue to strive for 
improvements in water quality through our ASSAP program. 
A free confidential water quality assessment is available 
to all our suppliers. Where suppliers have taken up this 

“ WE HAVE ALWAYS 
PRIDED OURSELVES AS 
CARBERY SUPPLIERS THAT 
WE ARE COMMITTED TO 
SUSTAINABILITY AND HAVE 
OFTEN BEEN AHEAD OF THE 
CURVE IN INTRODUCING 
MORE SUSTAINABLE 
PRACTICES IN OUR 
FACILITIES AND ON FARM ”

CHAIRMAN’S 
STATEMENT
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OUR GLOBAL BUSINESS 
I was very happy to have the 

opportunity to meet our  
teams and see the operations in 
Trieste, Italy, and High Wycombe, 
UK in 2021 and I hope to visit 
more of our global sites in 2022. 

A major priority will be to get to 
the US to meet our new colleagues 

from Innova and see those facilities 
first-hand. Welcome to the new 

employees who have joined us this 
year, and thanks to everyone in our 

organisation around the world who has 
worked hard and delivered record results for 

Carbery, even while navigating a global pandemic.

suppliers with advice, best practice, 
demonstrations and technology. 
We will defend the reputation of 
farming at every opportunity. We 
need to match this with a level 
of commitment and action by 
every single supplier to adopt 
the measures that we know work 
to reduce emissions, including: 
LESS, protected urea, clover, soil 
sampling and focus on EBI. 

As always our Milk Quality and 
Sustainability Award nominees and 
winners set a great example for us in these 
areas. I was delighted to be able to celebrate 
this year’s nominees and winners at an in-person 
event, and congratulations again to the Shorten family. 

“ THANKS TO EVERYONE IN OUR ORGANISATION AROUND THE WORLD 
 WHO HAS WORKED HARD AND DELIVERED RECORD RESULTS FOR 
 CARBERY, EVEN WHILE NAVIGATING A GLOBAL PANDEMIC ”

SAFETY AND WELLBEING 
Our second farmer welfare event, held virtually in January 
2021, focused on health and safety, physical health and 
nutrition, and developing a resilient mindset. There was a 
lot of valuable advice to take from it, but certainly my main 
takeaway was that there is help available for everyone, but 
you need to ask for it. 

It is well documented that Covid-19 has caused a  
deterioration in mental health across the world. I am very 
aware that the climate change debate, plus pressures in 
relation to rising costs, will have also increased the stress 
on farmers this year.

I want to show that farming can sit alongside any other 
profession as a viable and desirable career choice for the 
next generation of young people coming along. Farmers 
work at the cutting edge of science and research, work for 
themselves, outdoors, in the countryside, and have the 
opportunity to be part of solving the climate crisis. Showing 
that farmers are serious about their health and know to seek 
help when they need it is a critical part of shaping the sector 
for the next generation. 

DAIRY MARKETS 
Dairy markets made a strong recovery in 2021, after the 
instability and uncertainty of 2020, and this has translated 
towards the end of the year into a very strong milk price. The 
Board also took the decision in December to pay a 0.5cpl 
bonus for all milk supplied in 2021. Whilst cheese markets 
lagged the increases seen in butter and skim markets during 
2021 we have started to see improved pricing in cheese 
markets more recently. The Board will continue to monitor 
markets and determine a fair price for our suppliers. 

DELIVERING FOR OUR SHAREHOLDERS
The focus of Carbery is to continue to pay a premium milk 
price to our suppliers and to focus on best returning markets. 
We want to ensure that our suppliers are rewarded and can 
benefit from their contribution to Carbery and the resulting 
growth of our business. To this end, in 2021 we introduced 
the Share Redemption Exit Plan (SREP) for retiring suppliers. 
This will ensure we can reward them for the years of hard 
work and commitment they show to Carbery.

BOARD
I would like to thank my Board colleagues for their work 
throughout 2021 and especially our outgoing Chair TJ 
Sullivan for all his contributions in the role. The Board’s 
continuing support for investing in the future of the company 
is particularly appreciated, with the Innova acquisition 
approved and the cheese diversification project finalised. 

It was great to be able to welcome members of the co-op 
boards in to tour the new expansion in Ballineen and we 
look forward to more of this in 2022. 

Sincere thanks to everyone; farmers, employees, executives, 
board colleagues, customers and partners, who have 
supported in the course of my term as Carbery Chair to 
date. I look forward to working closely with you all to ensure 
the continuing success of our organisation. 

Le meas

Cormac O’Keeffe
Chairman
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2021 KEY HIGHLIGHTS

MARCH
New plant. We began our first full season of production in our new cheese 
facility and we produced almost 10,000 tonnes of mozzarella.  

MAY
Innova acquired. Carbery Group acquired Innova, part of Griffith Foods 
International, in a move that brought additional savoury flavour capability, 
100 new employees and two new facilities into the portfolio. 

JUNE
Farm Zero C a winner! News broke that Farm Zero C had won the Science 
Foundation Ireland zero emissions challenge – and received €2m in funding 
for the project. Farm Zero C is our project to create a climate neutral dairy 
farm.

JULY
UCD Agcelerator programme launched. We came on board as gold 
sponsors of the first UCD Accelerator fund dedicated to Agtech start-ups. 

OCTOBER
Origin Green. We were delighted to be among a small group of companies 
who received the Origin Green Gold Member award for the second year in 
a row. 

OCTOBER/NOVEMBER
Return to Customers. Our marketing and business development teams 
were delighted to return to face to face interactions with customers at trade 
shows in Europe and the US. 

NOVEMBER
Expanded Synergy R & D facilities were completed in the US. 
The new facilities allow us to meet the high growth and collaboration needs 
of our customers.

DECEMBER
West Cork Trees Project. 60,000 trees distributed as part of our partnership 
with SWS Forestry and the Dept of Agriculture. 105,000 trees in total have 
been planted in West Cork since 2016.
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€31.2m

€28.3m

€44.9m

€50.1m

2021

2020

2021

2020

2021

2020

€459.5m

€535.7m

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Revenue  417.3  423.5  434.1  459.5  535.7 

EBITDA*  41.9  43.9  44.3  44.9  50.1 

EBITA*  31.1  32.4  30.2  28.3  31.2 

Operating Profit (EBIT)  25.5  26.6  24.3  24.2  25.3 

Net Debt  12.7  30.1  47.2  57.8  79.6 
 * Before Exceptional Items

FINANCIAL REPORT

REVENUE

EBITDA

EBITA

CUMULATIVE CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

 17.1  36.0  95.4  141.3 167.7
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Carbery remains committed to making a difference to the 
communities in which we operate. We look to support 
and be actively involved in making a difference in the lives 
of our farmers suppliers, our people and our neighbours 
around the world. In 2021, we have continued to partner 
with a number of voluntary and educational organisations 
around the world, like Foodcloud in Ireland, The Hatchery 
in the US and the Madagascar Development Fund. We 
have expanded the charities and organisations we support, 
in response to the growing need for supporting our 
communities caused by Covid and other challenges. 

SUSTAINABILITY
We continued to make considerable progress across our  
sustainability objectives, with a focus on being carbon 
neutral across all manufacturing sites by 2035. Absolute 
GHG emissions reduced by 4.12% across the Group in 
2021 despite increased production rates. Water use across 
the Group reduced by 16.7% in 2021 compared with 2020.

Farm Zero C, our project to create a climate neutral dairy 
farm, is one of the most ambitious dairy farming initiatives 
undertaken in the sector. Creating a model for climate 
neutral farming is a big swing, but Carbery has always 
embraced big challenges. Our many on-farm initiatives 
and partnerships look to minimise our impact on the 
environment around us while maximising returns to our 
farmers.

In 2021 we established Green Teams in several 
of our global locations. These teams have 

been driving a number of sustainability 
initiatives across locations and business 

areas. We also look outside our 
organisation, and are working with 
external partners, collaborating 
to drive improvements across the 
broader sectors that we can impact.

Jason Hawkins
Chief Executive Officer

It is during periods of change and challenge that an 
organisation’s true culture and the character and 
commitment of its employees shine through. I couldn’t be 
prouder of the ways in which the Carbery team has dealt with 
the challenges brought by 2021, and over the last two years. 

Our farmer suppliers and shareholders continue to adapt 
to a changing landscape by embracing new practices and 
approaches to enhance the already strong sustainability 
credentials of farming in West Cork. Our high 
quality, grass based dairy offerings continue 
to be in demand around the world.

Our people have responded to the 
challenges of Covid, Brexit, supply 
chain and ongoing geo-political 
events by continuing to deliver 
strong results and maximising 
returns to our shareholders. They 
have done so while adapting new 
ways of working, including remote 
working, and a commitment to making 
the right decisions for the long term.

“ OUR PEOPLE HAVE RESPONDED 
TO THE CHALLENGES OF COVID, 
BREXIT, SUPPLY CHAIN AND 
ONGOING GEO-POLITICAL 
EVENTS BY CONTINUING TO 
DELIVER STRONG RESULTS AND 
MAXIMISING RETURNS TO OUR 
SHAREHOLDERS.”

SUSTAINING 
SUCCESS 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW

Carbery is committed to securing the long term  
success of our business in a sustainable way 
that will positively impact the environment, our 
farmer suppliers, our people, the marketplace 
and the communities in which we operate. 
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INVESTMENTS 
We invested in our R&D infrastructure, people and  
partnerships globally in 2021 and are already seeing the 
return on many of these investments.

The Board approved the acquisition of Innova, a Chicago 
based flavour company, which further enhances our 
product portfolio and our ability to grow into new market 
segments.

We will continue to invest in our assets, our people 
and in partnerships to ensure that Carbery remains 
well positioned for the future. The Group has recently 
completed a refinancing with our existing banking 
partners and remains well positioned to fund continued 
investment in the business in the coming years.

We are committed to being transparent with our sustainability 
targets and how we are progressing in achieving them. Our 
focus at the moment is on clearly benchmarking where 
we are today. Our materiality matrix is complete and we 
have an onging project on our Scope 3 emissions which 
is contributing to this benchmarking. We were extremely 
proud to have these efforts acknowledged by becoming 
one of a handful of companies to receive Origin Green Gold 
Member status for the second year in a row. 

We continue to evolve our product portfolio to ensure 
that we are meeting the needs of our customers and 
the markets in which we operate. We are responding to 
customer demands for increased transparency in supply 
chains, sustainable practices and a healthy and varied 
product choice. 

Our sustainability agenda has always been ambitious, and 
generously supported by our employees as well as our 
shareholder suppliers, customers and key stakeholders. As 
the need to act to mitigate the impact of climate change 
becomes more urgent across every sector and facet of 
society, we commit to continuing to play our part in every 
way we can to reduce emissions.

OUR PERFORMANCE
Carbery will be measured into the long term by more 
than just our annual results but it is key that we continue 
to deliver against our short term business objectives and 
targets. I am, therefore, very pleased to report another 
strong set of financial results in 2021.

Group turnover increased by 17% to €535.7m, while on a  
constant currency basis turnover increased by 18% year-
on-year. 

Group EBITDA (Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation 
(net of grants), amortisation of goodwill and other intangibles 
and exceptional items) increased by 12% to €50.1m (2020: 
€44.9m). On a constant currency basis EBITDA increased 
by 14%.

Group EBITA (Operating Profit before interest, tax, 
amortisation of goodwill and other intangibles and 
exceptional items) increased to €31.2m (2020: €28.3m) 
reflecting a year-on-year increase of 10%. On a constant 
currency basis EBITA increased by 14%.

A strong performance was seen across all divisions, as you 
will see in the business section. As always, we continued 
to make a number of investments across our business in 
2021. Our investment strategy supports our objectives 
around quality and safety, business growth, sustainability 
and innovation.

REVENUE
€535.7m

17% 12%

EBITDA
€50.1m

10%

EBITA
€31.2m

Expanded 
R&D labs at 
Synergy US HQ, 
Wauconda
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DIVISIONAL PERFORMANCE 
2021 was the first full year of production in our  
expanded facility in Ballineen. Our €80m investment is 
coming to fruition, with more than 63,000 tonnes of cheese 
produced, almost 10,000 tonnes of that being mozzarella. 
We also continued our focus on new markets and customers, 
with the development kitchen installed as part of the 
expansion playing a crucial role in keeping our 
customers engaged virtually throughout 
Covid. 

Our Nutrition team continued to 
acquire new customers in new 
geographies, with a focus on 
infant and sports nutrition, and 
a move into clinical products for 
European and Asian customers. 
The team also continue to be at 
the leading edge of innovation, 
both in-house and with a range 
of partners. We are also looking 
at a portfolio diversification into 
fermented proteins. 

The acquisition of Innova Flavors was an 
exciting development in a year of strong 
performance for our flavours division, with the 
expanded capabilities and savoury flavour range creating 
new opportunities for existing customers and new avenues 
into new markets. The team brought leading insights and 
new products to customers via innovation campaigns 
such as Citrusology showcasing our experience with citrus 
flavours, and Inspiring Fruits. The Trendcast podcast series 
continues to be popular with customers. Pairing flavours 
with sports nutrition is a growth area for the business. 

“ OUR DIVERSIFICATION 
 STRATEGY HAS SERVED 
 US WELL AS WE FIND NEW 
 MARKETS TO DELIVER THE 
 BEST RETURNS FOR OUR 
 FARMER SUPPLIERS. ”

Increased global demand 
for cheese has helped  
us explore new markets

Minister Simon Coveney 
and Senator Tim Lombard 
touring the cheese 
expansion at Ballineen

The Nutrition team 
continue to be at  
the leading edge  
of innovation

DAIRY MARKETS
Dairy markets performed strongly in 2021 as a result of  
resilient demand and muted global dairy supply. While 
butter and protein prices advanced more quickly in the early 
part of the year, cheese prices started to correct themselves 
later in the year. Our diversification strategy has served us 
well as we find new markets to deliver the best returns for 

our farmer suppliers.

Our overall milk volume growth to 612 
litres represents an increase of 2.7% in 

2021 and we have seen an increase 
of 57% in milk volume since quotas 

were abolished. 

Markets continue to be robust 
as I write this in Q1 2022 with 
an expectation that supply will 
be quite muted in 2022 while 
demand remains stable. The 

situation in Ukraine is clearly 
having an impact on commodity 

markets globally which in turn is 
impacting input costs for our business 
and for our suppliers. We will actively 
manage these challenges but our 
thoughts are focused on those that 
have been personally impacted by the 

conflict and we hope to see a speedy resolution.
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DIGITAL UPGRADES 
The world in which we operate, and how we operate, has 
changed significantly over the last number of years. Having a 
comprehensive digital strategy is key to ensuring that we are 
well positioned to meet challenges like cybersecurity as well 
as ensuring we have the ability to leverage opportunities 
using technology solutions.

Our employees have embraced new tools and processes 
to facilitate working remotely while all of our operations 
are now fully integrated from a technology perspective to 
ensure we have full transparency and control of our products. 
We have embraced automation and other tools to ensure 
we continue to make our work environments more efficient 
and better to work in.

We have invested in new customer management tools to 
facilitate global collaboration to better service our customers. 
We have invested in a new website to better explain and 
promote our business to the external world. Social media 
and other tools are critical to our communication efforts also.
As we look to the future we are exploring areas such as 

The new-look carbery.com 
was launched in December

“ HAVING A COMPREHENSIVE 
 DIGITAL STRATEGY IS KEY  
 TO ENSURING THAT WE 
 ARE WELL POSITIONED 
 TO MEET CHALLENGES 
 LIKE CYBERSECURITY AS 
 WELL AS ENSURING WE 
 HAVE THE ABILITY TO 
 LEVERAGE OPPORTUNITIES  
 USING TECHNOLOGY 
 SOLUTIONS. ”

LOOKING FORWARD
The current global environment of uncertainty and  
inflationary pressures is certainly one in which we need 
to continue to be vigilant in protecting our business. We 
will focus on making the right decisions to support our 
shareholder suppliers, our customers and our people. The 
business is in a healthy position as we aim to navigate 
through these difficult times. There will be many more 
challenges ahead but we are well positioned to succeed 
and make a positive long term impact.

The Board and management of Carbery continue to 
prioritise growing a business that is equipped to deliver 
value back to our shareholder suppliers, through paying a 
leading milk price and maximising the value we add to the 
milk we take in. 

Thanks as always to our dedicated suppliers and their 
families for their ongoing support. Particular thanks to the 
four co-ops; Bandon, Barryroe, Drinagh and Lisavaird and 
all their staff for the continuing support of our business.

Thanks to our team of people around the world who have 
delivered another great business performance this year, for 
their dedication and commitment to Carbery.

Thanks to our customers and business partners who continue 
to work with us to grow our respective businesses together.

Finally, a sincere thank you to the Board of Carbery, led by 
our Chairman Cormac O’Keeffe, who continue to advise 
and support the management team. 

Jason Hawkins
Chief Executive Officer

Artificial Intelligence and other emerging technologies 
to ensure we can continue to be relevant and competitive 
across our business. We are working with partners across 
many new technology areas to ensure we are aware of the 
new technologies that could help us across our entire supply 
chain and business.
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SPOTLIGHT ON: GRASS-FED GOODNESS 
The rising demand for sustainability is a key trend 
impacting the dairy sector. 65% of consumers are making 
more of an effort to be more aware of the environment 
around them, while 27% state they are willing to pay 
more for food which is sustainably produced (Bord Bia, 
Healthy Lifestyles, 2021). 

The Verified Grass Fed Standard by Bord Bia is one 
way to demonstrate the sustainability and naturalness 
of Carbery Dairy cheese. Bord Bia have carried out 
extensive research on consumer acceptance of this 
standard and logo on packaging, with hugely positive 
results: Just under 60% of dairy buyers in Germany, UK 
and US say seeing our Grass-fed verified label would 
make them more likely to buy dairy. 

In a review of dairy products with grass-fed claims in key 
markets, butter and cheese both achieved a premium 
price over non grass-fed products, particularly in 
Germany and the US.

NEW LOOK,
SAME

DISTINCTIVE
TASTE

DAIRY 
Our  cheese  business  continued  to  perform  strongly  
throughout 2021. We produced more than 63,000 tonnes 
of  cheese  including  Cheddar,  Reduced  Fat  Cheese,  
Mozzarella and Inclusion Cheese. 

2021 was the first full year of mozzarella production with 
8,800 tonnes placed in the market. Multiple mozzarella 
recipes have been developed for our key global markets 
including chilled, frozen and super chilled mozzarella, and 
grilling cheese. 

Our flexibility to produce both cheddar and mozzarella has 
significantly improved our returns this year and allows us to 
move and adapt to market trends. 

The key focus of our innovation was on mozzarella, continuing 
to build on our recipe base and developing new product 
SKU’s such as low fat mozzarella. Carbery’s cheese bears 
the Verified Grass Fed Standard from Bord Bia, which is a 
key element to demonstrating Ireland’s sustainability and 
natural credentials globally.
 
Dubliner cheese, under the Kerrygold brand, has performed 
well particularly in the U.S. and Carbery continues to be a 
strategic cream supplier for Kerrygold butter. 

THE IRISH MARKET 
Strong retail performance continued on a volume basis 
in 2021 and online shopping played a key role in retail 
performance this year. 

Private label is continuing to dominate the retail sector, 
now accounting for 82% of the Irish cheese market. Carbery 
are now supplying mozzarella as 100% Irish mozzarella for 
certain private label brands.

The Irish market has also shifted in terms of the most desired 
cheese formats. Blocks have traditionally been the most 
popular format for cheese in Ireland. However in 2021, 
blocks decreased to 35% of the volume share. While the 
popularity of grated product, driven by the demand for 
convenience, has increased from 36% volume share in 2020 
to 38% in 2021. 

The Dubliner brand refresh launched in July 2021. The 
packaging was updated based on the findings of primary 
research in 2020 to a more contemporary pack. The Dubliner 
Lighter packaging was also updated to bring it more in 
line with the overall look and feel of the brand. The brand 
refresh was supported by a promotional campaign which 
sought to highlight the uniqueness of the Dubliner taste. 

We continued to drive consumer awareness of Carbery 
Cracker, following the relaunch in 2020. During summer 
2021, we ran a campaign under the banner ‘A cracking 
cheese for snacking’.

Nationwide ad 
campaign showing 
the Dubliner 
redesign in July

BUSINESS 
UPDATE
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Shots from a virtual tasting with 
Japanese customers, using our newly 
designed development kitchen to 
showcase products virtually. 

INTERNATIONAL 

The Carbery Dairy brand has continued to expand 
geographically. We are focusing on building our business 
with key strategic partners throughout Europe and Asia, 
while continuing to work with key partners in the UK.

Food Service recovery internationally was a little slower than 
expected post the initial impact of the pandemic, but we 
did see recovery in Q3 and Q4. Cheese prices increased 
strongly in Q4. 

SPOTLIGHT ON: 
THE JAPANESE MARKET 
In 2021, we have significantly increased sales to customers 
in Japan as part of our strategy to build long term and 
strategic customer relationships in the market. Japan is 
a more mature cheese market than other Asian countries. 
As such, our offering is understood and appreciated in 
the market. Carbery Dairy cheese can offer differentiation 
through the high quality unique and customisable offerings, 
our heritage in cheese-making, dedicated cheese graders 
working closely with customers, our focus on innovation 
and our grass-fed credentials. Carbery’s cheese is now 
being sold into a number of applications including ready 
meals, shredding, pizza and processed cheese. Despite 
the travel restrictions, we have continued to engage and 
interact with our customers and have continued to diversify 
our portfolio in the market. Recent successes include a win 
with Beta-Carotene Cheddar and the Cheese Extra range.

As part of our Cheese Diversification Project and associated 
expansion of our facilities, we have installed a development 
kitchen which is fully equipped with industry standard 
cooking and testing equipment. This is designed to be a 
collaborative space where our customers can come and 
ideate with our team. It can also be used to demonstrate our 
solutions in real life settings and how they perform in real life 
cooking situations. We have just installed a high definition 
overhead camera and videoconferencing equipment 
allowing us to continue these innovation sessions with our 
customers all over the world.

OUR TEAMS IN THE MARKET 
In October 2021, the team travelled to Cologne, Germany 
to the Anuga Tradeshow. Anuga is a leading global trade 
fair for the food and beverage industry. This year’s trade 
show was a little different due to Covid-19 restrictions, and 
took place both in person and digitally. Carbery were part of 
the Origin Green stand. The team caught up with existing 
customers in person after almost two years, and meetings 
were held with customers from Japan, South Korea, the 
UK and mainland Europe. Additionally, new leads were 
identified leading to new sales opportunities, especially 
for our mozzarella. 

We also continued our participation in virtual events, such 
as the Bord Bia South East Asia trade mission. 

The Carbery Dairy 
stand at Anuga in 
September 2021
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NUTRITION
Our Nutrition ingredients business continued to perform 
strongly in 2021, with the acquisition of customers in new 
geographies. We maintained our strategic focus on the 
infant and sports nutrition markets, and we continued our 
strategy to establish key contacts and opportunities in the 
clinical nutrition market across both Europe and Asia. 

China continues to be a key focus for our nutrition business. 
In 2021 we continued to make inroads with our Optipep® 
range into sports nutrition, targeted at protein bar and 
protein powder applications. We have also established 
targets and opportunities in the clinical nutrition sector 
in China, where we developed whey protein ingredients 
for specialised oral nutritional supplements with specific 
functional and nutritional requirements. 

Within Europe, we continue to strengthen customer 
relationships, while also nurturing new leads. 

The Nutrition stand at 
VitaFoods in Geneva 
last October

ENGAGING WITH CUSTOMERS VIRTUALLY
In 2021 we continued to engage with leads and customers  
virtually. As technology improves, the ability to host virtual 
stands and interact with potential customers has greatly 
improved. With our new customer relationship management 
tool it is now easier to manage leads and assess the impact 
of the exhibitions and tradeshows that we attend. 

We also continued to have high quality meetings and 
engagement with our current customer base through virtual 
meetings and demos, and we look forward to reconnecting 
with them in person across the globe in 2022.

ALL WHEY PROTEIN
COMPACT RTD

Powered by

125ml

2.4
kcal/ml

Vanilla Flavour

Whey
hydrolysates
for clinical
nutrition

DOWNLOAD OUR RESOURCES   

SMALLER
VOLUME

INCREASED
COMPLIANCE

ENHANCED
NUTRITION

ALL WHEY PROTEIN
COMPACT RTD

GET YOUR BROCHURE

COMPLETE OUR SHORT
SURVEY TO ENTER A DRAW

CHAT WITH US TODAY

Carbery’s virtual stand 
design for Espen 2021

OUR TEAM IN THE MARKET 
The Carbery Nutrition commercial and R&D teams were back 
in action at Vitafoods Geneva in October for a three-day 
exhibition, where we showcased the latest protein concepts 
including Optipep® 4Power, high protein hot chocolates 
using our latest heat stable ingredients, and great tasting 
whey protein isolate beverages using Synergy flavours and 
masking solutions.

Vitafoods also provided a platform to promote our latest 
ingredient Optipep® 4Power, and we delivered a well-
attended presentation on the benefits of consuming 
hydrolysed protein pre-exercise, as well showcasing the 
ingredient in the launchpad section. 

The exhibition provided a great opportunity to 
reconnect with existing customers and generate new 
leads and prospects, also allowing us to participate in 
several food and beverage media interviews, where we 
continued to promote the Carbery brand internationally. 
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INNOVATION-FIRST 
Our innovation pipeline continues to be market-led, 
responding to the needs of today’s consumer: delivering 
higher protein levels for products, softer textures in bars 
and specific molecular weight profiles for infant formula.
Our long-term research, in conjunction with leading 
universities, focuses on digestive health, inflammation, 
immunity, metabolic health, tolerance, lean body mass and 
performance outcomes.

We continue to diversify our portfolio to include fermented 
proteins, which can help with maintaining a healthy 
microbiome and delivering overall positive digestive health 
and comfort.

Carbery scientists 
in the R&D lab in 
Ballineen

SPOTLIGHT ON: 
INFANT FORMULA IN CHINA 
Market and regulatory circumstances have evolved 
significantly over the past eight years since China began 
heavily regulating the IMF (infant milk formula) market. 
The one child policy was removed in 2013 but has not 
prevented birth rates from falling over the last 4 years, with 
the greatest impact in top tier cities. (Rabobank 2021)

The evolving regulatory environment, competition and 
product differentiation will all play a role in the future 
growth of the IMF sector. In mid-2019, the Chinese 
government issued a circular entitled An Action Plan to 
Uplift the Domestic Infant Milk Formula Sector. The circular 
was a call to action to encourage fair competition with 
international brands and target a 60% market share by 
domestic companies. 

Over the past few years, these measures have contributed 
to industry consolidation (see graph alongside). This has 
resulted in a substantial increase in the market share of 
domestic players on the back of their successful investments 
in brands, supply chains, and distribution, especially through 
penetration into lower-tier cities.
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China will most likely remain the largest infant formula 
market for the next five years. The need for product 
differentiation continues to remain important to gain traction 
with consumers, while ensuring compliance with upcoming 
regulation on labeling and effectively communicating with 
the target consumers. 

We continue to focus on the top 10 domestic IMF 
manufacturers in China. Our innovation approach for 
China is focused on developing a range of hydrolysed 
proteins that meet all the functional, nutrition and regulatory 
requirements of the IMF market. 

Strong relationships have been established with 
procurement and R&D contacts, enabling broad discussions 
on their innovation pipeline and strategic focus. 

In 2021 we had several Optipep® ingredients approved 
with top tier domestic manufacturers. The IMF product 
development process in China is lengthy due to a complex 
regulatory and safety environment, and it is fantastic to see 
these projects convert.

IMF market-share, China
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TASTE
Our taste business continues to grow customer share  
in markets globally and had another year of strong 
performance in 2021. The acquisition of Innova Flavors in 
the US has expanded the flavour portfolio there to include 
savoury flavours as well as expanding the manufacturing 
facilities and client base globally. 

Strong performance in the nutritional category was driven 
by consumers returning to workout facilities and gyms in 
late 2020. Strategic customers in the health and nutrition 
space who were severely impacted by Covid shutdowns 
bounced back with strong demand for nutritional products 
through the first half of 2021. This was underpinned by the 
acquisition of new customers within the active nutrition and 
the performance energy category. 

In the beverage category, collaboration has been at the 
heart of success in 2021. Colleagues in the UK, US and Italy 
collaborated to deliver key presentations to both current 
and new customers. Key global strategic projects across 
beverage and naturals have allowed us to develop new 
and exciting concepts with customers. 

The emergence of the low and no alcohol beverage category 
has seen our recently developed hop essence becoming a 
key performer in Synergy’s essence portfolio. The Craft Beer 
Conference in Denver, Colorado in September provided 
opportunities for pipeline generation in the beverage 
industry (see page 22 for more).

Our Foodservice business enjoyed a successful rebound in 
2021 with many of those customers in the hospitality sector 
seeing a return to pre-Covid levels. 

The acquisition of Innova now allows us to participate in 
the plant-based meat category. Strong consumer demand 
is driving a healthy pipeline of opportunities across a new 
subset of plant-based customers. 

EXPANSION AND INNOVATION
The R&D laboratories and other collaboration spaces  
were expanded this year at Synergy U.S. headquarters in 
Wauconda, Illinois.

The expansion is part of an organic growth plan to ensure 
Synergy’s facilities keep up with the high-growth and 
collaboration needs of both customers and employees 
and includes the following changes: 

• New beverage thermal processing pilot plant that 
includes microthermics capabilities

• New flavour creation lab and significantly expanded 
analytical chemistry and sensory facilities

• New flavour research and technology laboratory to 
support forward-looking innovation

• Expansion of conference rooms and tasting table area 
for collaboration

The upgrades will allow customers to work alongside the 
US team in this inviting new space.

The research and development build is part of a series 
of facility updates Synergy Flavours has undergone since 
2018.

Expanded R&D 
labs at Synergy US 
HQ, Wauconda

HOP ESSENCES
SYNERGY PURE®

Synergy Pure® water soluble hop essences deliver full 
aromatic profiles and flavor characteristics of traditional dry 
hopping. 

Authentic Taste  |  Easy to Use  |  Improves Yield

Synergy Flavors, Inc. |  1500 Synergy Drive  |  Wauconda IL 60084  |  P: 847.487.1011  |  info.IL@synergytaste.com

Synergy have been 
working with craft 
beer brewers using 
hop essence
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SPOTLIGHT ON: INNOVA ACQUISITION 
In May 2021, Carbery Group announced the 
acquisition of leading savoury flavour and ingredient 
supplier, Innova, from Griffith Foods Worldwide. The 
new company is an addition to Synergy, Carbery’s 
international flavours business. 

This strategic purchase expanded the savoury 
capabilities of Synergy Flavours in alignment with the 
exciting new product development happening 
in meat alternatives, sauces, side dishes,  
and snacks. It also added process flavours 
to Synergy’s portfolio of extracts, 
essences, and compounded 
flavours of every form and 
designation, helping customers 
to differentiate their products 
in the competitive food and 
beverage markets

The acquisition expanded our 
savoury capabilities in the US 
in alignment with our current 
business in Europe and Asia. 
It brings new flavour expertise, 
innovation labs and manufacturing 
technologies to our robust resources for 
sweet flavour customers and commits the 
investment needed for the expansion of both. 

Post the acquisition of Innova, the integration continued 
throughout 2021. Over 50% of all tactical activities have 
been completed so far and all team members have 
been migrated to the same platforms. 

There is a capital plan in place to improve facilities at 
two Chicago plants, and to house all R&D in the same 
facility. The Innova manufacturing facilities are based 
in the Chicago area, as is the HQ of Synergy US.

Aquisition: Innova 
Flavours in 
Lombard, Illinois

CAMPAIGNS AND COLLABORATION 
2021 saw the launch of an education-based campaign  
to drive awareness of Synergy’s expertise in citrus. 

“Citrusology” focused on the opportunities for beverages 
to differentiate citrus profiles by targeting varietal and 
regional profiles through flavours and extracts. From the 
unique varietals of lemon to the nuances between different 
types of citrus fruits. Synergy’s global team of citrus experts 
launched a series of educational webinars that explore the 

world of citrus across different growing regions and 
varieties. 

Additional campaigns focused on 
the promotion of Synergy’s flavour 

solutions customised for the 
nutrition market, our range of 
vanilla solutions from pure vanilla 
extract through vanilla flavours, 
and the inspiring macro trends 
that are driving flavour selection 
across market segments and 
categories.

Synergy’s Inspiring Fruits range helps 
customers find their path to natural 

fruit tastes in their products. From clean-
label essences to natural named flavours 
and depiction of fruits on pack, this true-
to-nature range offers authenticity and 
flexibility to meet the demands of today’s 
consumers.

In sports nutrition, maintaining Synergy’s position as original 
thought leader and category expert and drawing on years 
of experience in delivering captivating taste performance in 
high protein products, we have continued promoting Paired 
to Perfection and launched the new campaign Synergy 4 
Protein. 

Synergy’s 
citrus flavours 
for beverage 
campaign

Fuel taste performance by 
enhancing flavour delivery.

FLAVOUR
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INNOVATING 
FOR GROWTH
Innovation is one of the bedrocks of our company. We have 20% of our employees 
directly involved in innovation in our eight dedicated Innovation Centre locations 
in Europe, Asia, North and South America. Much of this innovation is focused 
on research and development, new product development and creating dairy, 
nutrition and flavour solutions for our customers. 

We are also committed to fostering and promoting innovation across our whole 
business, and to supporting initiatives with other partners who have the same 
aims and values as we do. We innovate to better support our customers, to 
connect our employees and their ideas, to support future innovators and to 
promote the best ideas and technologies. Here is a snapshot of some of the 
innovation, partnerships and new approaches developed throughout 2021.

DAIRY 
2021 was an exciting and rewarding year for the Dairy  
R&D team as we saw the culmination of 2-3 years of research 
and development investment come to fruition when new 
recipes were transferred to the mozzarella plant and product 
was approved and commercialised in the marketplace. 
Recipes and manufacturing processes were developed 
and optimised over time in our pilot plant. Cheese 
was monitored and studied over shelf life and across 
a range of temperatures from frozen to chilled to 
super chilled to match customer and supply chain 
requirements across different regions. The R&D team 
developed a library of bespoke cultures suitable 
for the manufacture of mozzarella which allow us to 
deliver unique offerings to our customers. 

The R&D team continue to work on a pipeline of new 
cheddar and mozzarella products to extend and grow our 
product portfolio and offer greater added value products 
to our customers and the market.

Our R&D team assess 
the characteristics 
of Carbery Dairy 
Mozzarella
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Powered by

125ml

2.4
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Vanilla Flavour

carbery.com/nutrition

Oral Nutritional Supplement

ALL WHEY PROTEIN
COMPACT

Nutrient dense with a creamy mouthfeel.

2.4kcal/ml high protein oral nutritional 

supplement for the dietary management of 

patients with/or at risk of malnutrition, or with 

increased energy and protein requirements. 

Rapidly absorbed and easily digested.

Optipep whey protein hydrolysate providing 

12.5g of protein per 125ml bottle. Contains 

all micro- and macronutrients for complete 

nutrition.

*Rated in #1 position versus equivalent market leading compact 

oral nutritional supplement products for taste by an external 

trained sensory panel. 

SMALLER 
VOLUME

• 125ml Low Volume

• 12.5g Protein

• 300kcal

IMPROVED 
COMPLIANCE
• Preferred taste

versus market 

leaders.*

To support new strategic market sectors such as clinical 
nutrition we have developed an improved range of heat 
stable ingredients and product concepts demonstrating 
the use and benefit of these ingredients, optimising 
composition for foods for special medical purposes, sensory 
improvements, shelf life extensions and processability to 
high heat treatments such as UHT. 

Our research portfolio includes new exciting areas such as 
biotechnology, fermentation and key health areas such as 
gut health and the role of the gut microbiome in promoting 
health benefits both inside the gut in addition to its impact 
on other metabolic processes external to the gut.

Peptide fingerprinting  
– advanced analytics 
for our Optipep range 

Promotional 
material for our
Optipep® Clinical 
supplement

Samples of Cheddar 
being tested in our R&D 
facility in Ballineen

NUTRITION
In addition to the development of new ingredients to  
serve our key strategic customers in our defined market 
sectors – infant, sports and clinical nutrition – we also 
explore new scientific technologies, staying abreast of 
advancements that can support our business into the future. 
An example of this is a collaboration with University College 
Dublin. This work was funded under the EU Marie Curie 
Career Fit Programme in conjunction with Enterprise Ireland.

In this programme we use new techniques to map the 
peptide profile of our Optipep® range of hydrolysed 
proteins, creating a peptide map or “fingerprint” which 
is unique to each ingredient and identifies key differences 
between products. Each of these peptide fingerprints 
hold a code that could be linked to potential bioactivity 
or health promoting benefits when consumed. In addition, 
using bioinformatic tools we were able to build new data 
bases (>35,000 datapoints) where each of these codes 
could be scanned and tested for potential matches. This 
information can be used to inform further research into 
health promoting benefits. For example, we used these 
techniques to select the best Optipep® from our product 
library that was subsequently tested in a clinical study to 
improve performance goals in sport nutrition. 

Following the completion of this human intervention study 
– this Optipep® has been branded as Optipep4Power now 
with a significant body of scientific evidence to support 
its use by consumers in the marketplace. This also allows 
our customers to innovate with us to bring new product 
innovations to market that compete with and outperform 
existing products.
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TASTE 

2021 has seen pay-off for the culmination of over 80 hops  
essence and hops technology research and innovation 
projects. Today, Synergy is recognised as a thought-leader 
and unique solution provider in the beer brewing and allied 
beverage spaces. An intentional blending of novel hops 
technologies, fundamental know-how and new product 
development has led to highly significant 2021 commercial 
traction, including wins with flagship brands from a global 
beer company, resulting in significant revenue and new 
opportunities for flavour sales and deeper relationship 
building. 

Nature Created it. We Captured it™

Delivering a Pure Hop 
Experience

Extend the 
reach of

your hops

Enhance hop profile 
without label 
implication

Nature Created it. We Captured it™

Delivering a Pure Hop 
Experience

Improve
Beer
Yield

AgTechUCD

WITH OUR PARTNERS 
In 2021, we announced our support of a postgraduate 
student scholarship at University College Cork over the 
next five years. Our donation will fund The Carbery Group 
Scholarship for one postgraduate student annually on 
the MSc in Co-operatives, Agri-Food and Sustainable 
Development at Cork University Business School, UCC. It 
is the only one-year masters of its kind which fully integrates 
co-operative approaches into the study of sustainable 
development and agri-food. 

We were also gold partners on the new AgTechUCD 
Agccelerator Programme 2021; a 12 week accelerator 
programme dedicated to early-stage AgTech and FoodTech 
start-up companies. As gold partners, Carbery is provided 
financial and mentoring support to the participating 
companies.

FRUITS
I N S P I R I N G

YOUR PATH TO NATURAL
FRUIT TASTES

A snapshot of Synergy’s Inspiring Fruits campaign. The flavours 
were developed in conjunction with local producers in Trieste.

2021 saw deeper engagement with FREC (The Flavor 
Research and Education Center), an academic-industry 
pre-competitive consortium based out of Ohio State 
University that focuses on technical solutions to challenges 
in the food and flavour industry. There are currently 13 
member companies including Nestlé, Coca-Cola, Kerry, 
Sensient, and Wild. Synergy’s engagement and leadership 
grew in 2021 as two of the 13 current projects are Synergy 
submissions — chemical drivers of vanilla flavour and drivers 
of liking in cold brew coffee. 

With our proprietary technologies Synergy continued to 
innovate in the naturals space to meet growing consumer 
demands for natural ingredients. Working with local 
producers allowed our process chemists in Trieste to capture 
the flavour profile of a range of fruits, typically grown in Italy, 
and included profiles such as chinotto, blood orange and 
bergamot. 

During 2021 Synergy launched its Taste and Texture 
programme. This is a holistic development approach that 
is designed to tackle the taste and textural challenges 
associated with foods such as plant-based products and 
nutritional beverages. From consumer understanding 
Synergy adopts a multi-step innovation process that 
incorporates its biotechnology expertise coupled with 
application know-how, flavour creation, analytical science 
and to sensory analysis. This multi-step approach allows 
us to provide tailor made flavour and taste solutions which 
help manufacturers deliver the food experiences consumers 
expect.

Through our partnerships on the Farm Zero C project, we 
are trialling and supporting a range of Irish and European 
start-ups and new technologies to deliver the climate neutral 
goal that we are aiming for in 2027. 
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WHEN CARBERY WAS FOUNDED 
OVER 50 YEARS AGO, OUR PURPOSE 
WAS TO CREATE A STABLE AND 
SUSTAINABLE FUTURE FOR THE 
FARMERS OF WEST CORK — OUR 
SHAREHOLDERS. TODAY, WE RETAIN 
THAT COMMITMENT TO GENERATING 
LONG-TERM VALUE, AND AS A 
GLOBAL COMPANY, CONSIDER A 
WIDER SET OF STAKEHOLDERS — OUR 
COMMUNITIES, OUR CUSTOMERS, 
OUR SUPPLIERS, AND THE PLANET. 

In a year where farming and the agriculture sector received 
increasingly ambitious and urgent climate targets, we are 
proud to outline in this report the many ways in which we 
as a company, and working together with our farmers, have 
been protecting and improving our environment. 

Sustainability is integrated across our business on three 
levels:
1. in Carbery company operations — by running a 

sustainable, efficient, responsible and profitable 
business

2. for our customers — by helping to shape a more 
sustainable food future; and

3. with our farmer suppliers, communities and wider 
society — by sharing benefits where we operate and 
making a positive contribution.

While reducing climate impact and enhancing and 
environmental protections are a central pillar of our 
sustainability strategy, they are not the whole focus. 
Our sustainability strategy covers Environment, People, 
Community, Supply Chain and Marketplace. This is in 
recognition of the fact we need to focus our attention as a 
global company on the impact we can make beyond just 
environmental areas. Building a positive and constructive 
ecosystem means that we consider our employees, our 
suppliers, our customers and our wider community in every 
decision that we make. 

Our sustainability strategy is also informed by the United 
Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), devised 
in 2015 to achieve a better and more sustainable future 
for everyone on the planet. By operating responsibly, our 
business makes a contribution to 8 of the 17 goals.

SUSTAINABILITY 
– OUR APPROACH
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OUR ENVIRONMENT OUR MARKETPLACEOUR PEOPLE OUR SUPPLY CHAIN OUR COMMUNITY

€

SUSTAINABILITY AT CARBERY 
MEANS PROVIDING SUSTAINABLE 
FOOD AND FLAVOURS IN A 
RESPONSIBLE MANNER – IN A 
WAY THAT BALANCES SHORT- 
AND LONG-TERM INTERESTS, 
AND THAT INTEGRATES 
ECONOMIC, ENVIRONMENTAL 
AND SOCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 
INTO DECISION-MAKING.

OUR 
ENVIRONMENT

We strive to produce and deliver food responsibly – in a way 
that respects people, their nutritional requirements and their 
environment. At the simplest level, this means providing 
more from less. We apply global standards to manage the 
environment and how we engage with communities and 
we work to continuously improve our performance.

Our target is to be climate neutral across all our manufacturing 
sites by 2035. This goal to reduce Scope 1 and 2 emissions, is 
now being expanded by a project started at the end of 2021, 
which is measuring all of our Scope 3 emissions (including 
emissions from our suppliers). Measuring the full extent of 
these will allow us to set Science Based Targets which will 
bring us closer to achieving our climate neutral goal across 
our sites, and develop a roadmap for how we can do the 
same with our farmer suppliers. Our Farm Zero C project 
which went from strength to strength in 2021 having won 
funding of €2m, continues to be a key pillar of this.ENERGY 
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KEY ACHIEVEMENTS 
Encouragingly, absolute GHG emissions reduced by 4.12% 
across the Carbery Group in 2021. A major reason for this 
development was the increase in renewable electricity 
use across the Group in 2021. Group electricity usage 
went from 89.7% renewable in 2020 to 92.5% renewable 
to in 2021. The Ballineen facility has been procuring 100% 
renewable electricity since 2018 and from October 2020, 
this practice has been replicated at the Synergy UK facility 
at High Wycombe. 

DECARBONISATION AMBITION
We aim to be carbon neutral by 2035 across all of our sites 
through the decarbonisation of our existing energy sources.

Over 80% of Group energy is provided via natural gas. In 
order for us to decarbonise our manufacturing sites, we 
will have to source sustainable renewable gas biomethane. 
Towards the end of 2020 Carbery joined a consortium called 
‘Project Clover’, an industry collaboration which plans on 
developing an Anaerobic Digestor (AD) infrastructure 
in Ireland. The vision for the project is to reduce carbon 
emissions from and enhance the sustainability of Irish 
agriculture through the development of a large scale farm 
based AD sector, producing biomethane and biofertiliser. 
This initiative is strongly aligned with National and EU 
policies for decarbonisation and development of a circular 
bioeconomy. With the benefit of some grant aid from Gas 
Networks Ireland, we were also able to initiate a feasibility 
study into AD options for the West Cork region throughout 
2021 to ascertain the potential for biomethane generation 
for the region.

Breakdown of carbon footprint 
across the global Group 

Synergy
4,825
(9%)

Carbery
47,942 (91%)

While Group energy use is down 0.93% in 2021, Group GHG 
intensity is down 3.22% in 2021 due to the move to renewable 
electricity. At High Wycombe GHG intensity is down 34.85% 
largely due to the shift from 24% renewable electricity in 
2020 to 100% in 2021. Another site that contributed to the 
reduction in GHG intensity was Hamilton Ohio. Despite a 
29% increase in production in 2021, the site managed to 
reduce its GHG intensity by 14.42% as less electricity was 
consumed.

WE AIM TO BE CARBON 
NEUTRAL BY 2035 ACROSS ALL 
OF OUR SITES THROUGH THE 
DECARBONISATION OF OUR 
EXISTING ENERGY SOURCES.

SETTING SCIENCE BASED TARGETS
In Q3 2021, we initiated an extensive Scope 3 emissions  
investigation across the group in conjunction with the 
Carbon Trust. Scope 3 emissions comprise all emissions 
generated in our value chain, including emissions from our 
suppliers’ farms, transportation and distribution, business 
travel, and waste disposal. 

The end result of this project will allow us to set carbon 
reduction targets for our Scope 1, Scope 2 and Scope 
3 emissions throughout 2022, aligned with the latest 
climate science. Science Based Targets are greenhouse 
gas emissions reduction targets that are in line with the 
level of decarbonisation required to meet the goals of 
the Paris Agreement – to limit global warming to below 
2°C above pre-industrial levels and pursue efforts to limit 
warming to 1.5°C.

1,200K

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

1,150K

1,100K

1,050K

0.058

0.054

0.050

0.046

0.056

0.052

0.048

0.044

GHG Intensity (mtCO2e per GJ), 
Energy Use (GJ)

En
er

gy
 U

se
 (G

J)

G
H

G
 In

te
ns

ity
 (m

tC
O

2e
 p

er
 G

J)

Energy Use (GJ) GHG Intensity (mtCO2e per GJ)



26Back to Contents

FARM RELATED EMISSIONS

In West Cork we are very privileged to have a climate 
that lends itself to a grass-based system that enables our
cows to spend almost their full lactation out at pasture.
When compared internationally, our milk has a relatively 
low carbon footprint. Carbon Footprint results assembled 
and calculated by Bord Bia through the Sustainable Dairy 
Assurance Scheme (SDAS) shows that Carbery farmers have 
continued to reduce their carbon footprint in 2021. The 
average carbon footprint of Carbery’s milk suppliers that 
were audited in 2021now stands at 0.94kg CO2 equivalent 
per litre of milk.
 

CONSERVING WATER
Conserving water is a major sustainability priority across  
the Group and concerted efforts to reduce water use were 
rewarded in 2021. Water use across the Group reduced by 
16.7% in 2021. We went from 1.595 million cubic metres in 
2020 down to 1.328 million cubic metres as shown below.

Our grass-based 
system means our milk 
has a relatively low 
carbon footprint

Carbery Farmer Carbon Footprint in kgCO2e 
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MATERIALITY ANALYSIS
To ensure we prioritise the issues that have the biggest  
impact on the economy, society and the environment, and 
elicit the issues that matter most to our stakeholders we 
conducted a formal materiality analysis in 2020/2021. This 
materiality analysis was accomplished across the Group 
and was conducted as a way to provide us with strategic 
input to guide our sustainability activities. We used the 
SDGs and the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board 
(SASB) framework to identify the issues most relevant to 
our sector. As part of the project, extensive desk research 
and interviews were conducted to understand the views of 
dozens of different US and Irish regulators, global peers, 
customers, and relevant NGOs – as well as our own people. 

The output of this work forms the basis of the framework of 
our sustainability strategy. We are moving more towards 
an integrated, holistic approach to managing sustainability. 
Climate action remains a top priority confirming our 
commitment to continue to play our role in the global 
response to this issue.

The major contributory factor to that reduction occurred at 
the Ballineen facility where 270,000 cubic metres less water 
was used in 2021. This is a major achievement and can be 
traced back to extensive investment in technologies that can 
recover water such as reverse osmosis and recycling of water 
from the whey permeate and various condensate streams, 
thus enabling significant reductions in water abstraction. 
It’s also down to the efforts of our services and production 
teams who have placed huge emphasis on water recovery 
over the past decade and more.

Water Use 2020 v 2021
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In 2021 Bord Bia updated the SDAS Dairy Carbon Footprint Model 
(Version 4) and this has had a positive impact on Irish dairy farms, as 
research from Teagasc proved that Irish dairy emits less greenhouse 
gases from the grass-based system than previously estimated.
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Water Use Intensity across Carbery 
Group (m3/t)
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Waste to Landfill across 
the Carbery Group
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CASE STUDY: RESPONSIBLE 
MANAGEMENT OF PLASTIC – BALLINEEN 
Carbery Ballineen joined the Responsible Plastic  
Management (RPM) Programme in 2020 which was 
established in response to global plastic pollution. 
Plastic awareness training was held for employees 
and in 2021 we formed a plastic forum onsite which 
began analysing our plastic volumes and completed 
a workshop with an RPM coach. In addition, Carbery is 
part of the IBEC Prepared Consumer Foods working 
group whose primary focus is on reducing plastic 
packaging. 

The reduction at our Ballineen site in waste to landfill 
of 20% was achieved through a series of activities 
beginning with waste mapping which was completed 
with all departments. This was followed with a gap 
analysis and development of a waste action plan 
where we added several new recycling receptacles 
to control rooms, labs and office spaces. All exterior 
bins were relabelled, and waste awareness training 
was completed with all departments. Our R&D, office 
and commercial areas have gone binless by removing 
under desk bins and utilising central recycling stations 
in their area. 

Our waste management 
programme was supported 
further throughout 2021

The reduction in water use supports an even better story for 
water use intensity across the Group, even as production 
increased in 2021. As can be seen above, water use intensity 
reduced by 19.2% across the Group in 2021. Since 2018 we 
have seen a 25.5% reduction in water use intensity across 
the Group.

All our facilities map water usage and have ambitious plans 
to recover water where possible so we aim to have even 
further reduction in water use intensity in the coming years. 
We envisage continued investment in reverse osmosis and 
other technologies to ensure we reduce our usage of this 
precious resource across the Group.

WASTE MANAGEMENT
Our waste to landfill reduced in 2021 v 2020 by 29 tonnes 
or 8% across the Group. Most of this reduction is driven by 
reductions at the the Hamilton and Ballineen facilities where 
major efforts are ongoing to reduce waste to landfill. Our 
ambition is to be a zero-waste company across all our sites.

OUR WASTE TO LANDFILL 
REDUCED IN 2021 BY  
29 TONNES OR 8% 
ACROSS THE GROUP

*our 2020 waste to landfill figure was 
underreported due to a miscalculation at one site. 



28Back to Contents

THE GREEN TEAMS 
Our Green Teams bring together a group of people 
passionate about sustainability and  the environment that 
are facilitating change within the global organisation. Each 
team is formed of representatives from across different 
business functions who identify and implement specific 
solutions for improvement to day-to-day operations, 
engage their site in community outreach, and educate their 
peers on the benefits of creating a sustainable organisation. 
Green Teams meet regularly to collaborate locally, and hold 
biannual brainstorm sessions as a global group. 

For example the Green Team in Ballineen completed 
the National Green Teams Programme. Following this 
we developed objectives and a calendar of events which 
included energy, waste and water workshops, a field trip 
to Farm Zero C, a brainstorming session with our Global 
Green Teams and sustainable Christmas ideas. 

ORIGIN GREEN – GOLD MEMBERSHIP 2021 

Carbery achieved Gold Member status in the Origin  
Green sustainability programme for a second year in a row. 

Companies are eligible for Gold Membership where they 
have demonstrated an overall exceptional performance 
within a given year. Achieving it is a major external 
endorsement of our commitment to sustainability as a 
company. Carbery was among 26 companies to achieve 
gold membership status in the inaugural year and among 
8 companies that managed to retain that status in year two.

PROMOTING BIODIVERSITY 
We have a commitment to enhance and improve biodiversity 
across all our sites globally, and to assist our farmers to 
protect and enhance biodiversity on their farms.

In May we observed World Biodiversity Day across our global 
sites. Sunflower seeds and bee flower mats were distributed 
to all employees and a flora & fauna photo competition 
took place to encourage staff to record biodiversity in their 
vicinity. Pollinator plants were also donated to schools 
local to the Carbery plant in Ballineen. The ‘No Mow May’ 
initiative was also carried out at the Ballineen site, where a 
large portion of green areas were allowed grow for several 
weeks to enhance pollinators. 

The third phase of our Carbery Trees initiative was 
implemented, whereby all of our 1230 farmer suppliers 
received 50 native trees to plant on their land. The latest 
phase of the project saw 60,000 trees planted, bringing 
the total number planted throughout the three phases to 
105,000 trees. For the latest phase we were also delighted 
to receive European Innovation Partnerships (EIP) Agri 
funding through the Department of Agriculture Food, and 
the Marine.

We held a field day with the senior cycles of the local 
schools in Ballineen to look at the biodiversity of the Bandon 
River. This event was organised in conjunction with the 
Local Authorities Waters Programme and supported by 
Enniskeane and Ballineen Tidy Towns. The groups met at 
the riverside park at Ballineen Bridge and were shown how 
biodiversity in the river is assessed through kick sampling. A 
talk on the various flora and fauna that can be found in the 
local park was given to the school children and their teachers.

‘Carbery Bug Hotel’ 
in Ballineen, a staff-
initiated project to 
promote biodiversity

GET INVOLVED

FRI
21ST
MAY

InternationalBiodiversityDay

InternationalBiodiversityDay

Flora & Fauna PhotoCOMPETITION BiodiversityPRIZES TO BE WONSunflower Seed GrowingCOMPETITION Biodiversity
VIDEO

#biodiversityday
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GET INVOLVED

InternationalBiodiversityDay

InternationalBiodiversityDay

Flora & Fauna PhotoCOMPETITION BiodiversityPRIZES TO BE WONSunflower Seed GrowingCOMPETITION Biodiversity
VIDEO

#biodiversityday

Biodiversity Day 
was celebrated 
across the Group
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Throughout 2021, we facilitated several groups of visitors 
through the project including the West Cork co-op boards, 
the board of Lakeland Dairies, Monitor Farmers and several 
local discussion groups. We also welcomed several members 
of government, including Ministers Simon Harris, Charlie 
McConalogue, Michael McGrath, local TD Christopher 
O’Sullivan, Mayor of Cork County Gillian Coughlan, and 
Senator Tim Lombard. 

These visits have driven conversations around promoting the 
positive message of the project, which is that farmers and 
the agriculture sector are up for the challenge of lowering 
emissions, we just need to time to do so.

If you would like to know more about the project visit 
carbery.com/sustainability/farm-zero-c

Members of the FZC 
team with Minister 
Simon Harris and Sen 
Tim Lombard at Shinagh
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an Irish dairy 
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FARM ZERO C UPDATE
In June of 2021 the exciting news was announced that  
Carbery and BiOrbic’s joint project, in collaboration with 
Teagasc and others, based on Shinagh Farm in Bandon, 
had won the Science Foundation Ireland Zero Emissions 
Challenge. The prize? Support of €2million to 
advance the work underway on the farm to 
create a model for an economically viable, 
climate neutral dairy farm, that will be 
replicable on other farms.

Since then, lots has been happening on 
the project. Much of the funding won 
will go towards supporting additional 
researchers for the project. The work 
is a collaboration between farmers and 
academics, and the researchers hired 
are working on supporting projects and 
research under the key pillars of the project. 

The team has been expanding in 2021. There is now a 
full time project manager (PM) and farm research technician, 
both based at Shinagh. The PM is responsible for the day 
to day management of the project and coordination of all 
research, visits and activity. The farm researcher implements 
research and practices at farm level and carries out field 
work such as soil sampling, clover and multi-species swards 
assessment and trial work. Other key additions to the team 
based in MTU are working on the social innovation blueprint.  

The key focus areas remain as they were set out at the 
beginning of the project – Life Cycle Analysis (mapping 
the total inputs and outputs of the farm to calculate 
climate impact), Biodiversity, Soil and Soil Carbon, Clover, 
Multispecies Swards (MSS), Renewables, Animal Diet and 
Breeding, Biorefining. 

Under these pillars, new approaches and technologies 
are being trialled. The farm tested an additive to slurry in 
winter housing, which has the potential to reduce methane 
emissions from slurry by 90%. Initial results are positive. 
About 260m of new hedgerows have been planted to 
improve biodiversity. 

The team are working on finalising the details of solar PV 
panels that will be installed on the farm to reduce reliance 
on fossil fuels. Soil carbon samples are being taken on the 

farm to learn more about the potential of grassland and 
hedgerows to sequester carbon. 

The farm team has also planted 
approximately 10% of Shinagh in MSS 
swards, to trial how effective and 
resilient these are in an Irish dairy 
system. Early results are promising 
with no negative effects on milk 
production and similar dry matter 
yields/ha compared to grass only 

swards while receiving significantly less 
nitrogen fertiliser. 

A really key part of the project, hand in hand 
with getting the science right, is sharing what 

the farm is doing and equipping other farmers with 
the knowledge and confidence to try some of the more 
tested measures. To support this, a visitor centre is under 
construction at Shinagh and information boards containing 
information for visitors on the pillars of work are being 
installed. 

*Bord Bia SDAS Dairy Carbon Footprint Model (Version 4)
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One thing that unites all of our people across regions, 
business functions and culture, is a strong desire to work 
within our local communities to improve them. Across 
our global company, our employees support a range of 
charity initiatives through fundraising, volunteering, and 
mentoring. Our organisation supports these activities 
at a corporate level, with direct donations, matching 
programmes, volunteer hours and other initiatives.

IRELAND
Active Community Awards 
Carbery sponsored the Active Community Awards in 
2021. These were established by Cork Sports Partnership 
under its Active Cork Communities Initiative to honour, 
recognise and celebrate the individuals and groups in 
our local Cork communities that go above and beyond 
in their efforts to promote community sport and physical 
activity opportunities while promoting positive health 
and wellbeing for all.

Foodcloud 
We continued our relationship with Foodcloud as our 
selected charity partner in 2021. Foodcloud collects and 
donates surplus food to charities with the aim of reducing 
food waste. As well as making an annual monetary 
donation, Carbery commenced volunteer days at the 
Cork Hub in 2021. Employees from Ballineen completed 
40 volunteer hours sorting and preparing donated food 
products for redistribution to charities in the region. 

WE STRIVE TO BE A GOOD 
NEIGHBOUR. AS WELL AS 
BOOSTING THE LOCAL ECONOMY 
BY CREATING EMPLOYMENT 
AND PURCHASING GOODS 
AND SERVICES FROM LOCAL 
SUPPLIERS, WE SEEK TO
IMPROVE THE QUALITY OF 
LIFE FOR PEOPLE IN OUR 
COMMUNITIES THROUGH 
PHILANTHROPY. WE SUPPORT A 
NUMBER OF EDUCATIONAL AND 
COMMUNITY GROUPS SUCH AS 
CHARITIES, SCHOOLS AND
SPORTING ORGANISATIONS, 
GIFTING MONEY, TIME, AND 
PRODUCTS.

OUR 
COMMUNITY

40hrs
VOLUNTEER 
WORK FOR 

FOODCLOUD

9
SCHOOLS 

FUNDED IN 
MADAGASCAR

OUR ENVIRONMENT OUR MARKETPLACEOUR PEOPLE OUR SUPPLY CHAIN OUR COMMUNITY

€
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SCAR 2021 
Following cancellation of the event in 2020, Skibbereen 
Charity Adventure Race was back on the calendar in 
Autumn 2021. Carbery Group were the main sponsors 
again and just like previous years a group of employees 
participated in the race. A new addition for 2021 was the 
volunteering of Carbery employees as race marshals. To 
date the event has raised over €200,000 for local charities. 

Christmas Jumper Day 2021 
The Christmas Jumper Day for the Simon Community 
was held on site and virtually in December 2021 and was 
generously supported by employees. We particularly 
appreciated the Simon coordinator who attended 
virtually to tell us about the important work that they do.

Carbery employees at 
the fundraiser for Breast 
Cancer in October 

Team Carbery at 
SCAR in October

The Hatchery Chicago enables 
local entrepreneurs to build 
and grow successful food and 
beverage businesses

US AND BRAZIL 
Community Giving
This year the Sustainability Team partnered with the 
Employee Events Committee to redefine our monthly 
events to includes volunteering & charities that tie back 
to our core values, focus on food security and education, 
and bring in local partners. This is best reflected in the 
work we do with The Hatchery at the Back-to-School block 
party in August and the Harvest Fest in October, through 
engagements with the village of Wauconda, and in 
locally based volunteer options. For 2022 we are building 
a charitable giving team that evaluates opportunities to 
expand our historic philanthropic efforts in Madagascar 
as well as local to our plants in Wauconda, Hamilton and 
Chicago. 

EUROPE 
Throughout 2021 a number of Synergy sites (High 
Wycombe, Trieste & Wauconda) have arranged litter clear 
up events, with employees cleaning up areas identified 
by the local community that require attention. Actively 
bringing employees and the community together, by 
taking pride and responsibility for the areas where our 
sites operate, these events act as a powerful reminder 
that small steps can contribute to a bigger change. 

Greggs Breakfast Club
In 2021 we continued our partnership with The Greggs 
Foundation and their Breakfast Club programme in the 
UK. This programme ensures that children have access 
to the most important meal of the day. Studies have 
shown that having breakfast has positive effects on an 
individual child’s alertness, attention, and performance. 
Our contribution funded breakfasts for up to 90 pupils 
in 2021. 

Breast Cancer Coffee Morning
To mark Breast Cancer Awareness Month in October a  
coffee morning and raffle was held in Ballineen, in addition 
an online pilates class was shared with employees.
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WE ARE FOCUSED ON BUILDING 
VIBRANT, SUSTAINABLE, DIVERSE 
SUPPLY CHAINS. AS A FOOD 
COMPANY, SAFETY, QUALITY 
AND FOOD SECURITY IS AT THE 
CORE OF EVERYTHING WE DO. 
ETHICAL SOURCING OF ALL RAW 
MATERIAL AND TRACEABILITY 
ARE ABSOLUTELY CENTRAL TO 
OUR APPROACH.

OUR  
SUPPLY CHAIN

For our Dairy and Nutrition business, our primary product 
is milk from grass-fed cows, sustainably produced on 
farms within a 50km radius of our plant. This means 
ensuring a beneficial, quality and sustainable supply chain 
from the farms of our farmers shareholders all the way 
to our consumers and customers. For our Taste business, 
where our supply chain involves a more diverse group of 
producers, we want to ensure both the highest quality 
products and that we are contributing to the prosperity 
of the communities from which we buy. 

AFFILIATIONS 
Part of growing our sustainability program is engaging  
with like-minded sustainable organisations and affiliations. 
Carbery and Synergy are members of Sedex and 
Ecovadis, ethical reporting mechanisms which verify our 
commitments to sustainability. Synergy is also a member 
of the IOFI-IFRA sustainability charter, an industry wide 
collaboration to improve sustainability for flavours and 
fragrances, and the Sustainable Vanilla initiative (SVI), a 
collaboration to improve transparency and human welfare 
in the vanilla sector. These platforms are helpful for 
demonstrating what actions we are currently taking and 
our commitment to long term sustainable improvement 
in the industry. 

Aligns with SDGs;

TREES
PLANTED

105K
70
GREENER 

DAIRY FARMERS 
PARTICIPANTS

38
ENVIRONMENTAL 
SCIENCE DIPLOMA 

GRADUATES 
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RESPONSIBLE VANILLA SOURCING 
In 2020, our materiality assessment determined which of 
our ingredients are the most critical to the business in 
terms of volume or value, and which carried the highest 
risk of being associated with ethical or environmental 
issues. Vanilla sourcing and care for our vanilla suppliers 
was reaffirmed as a key area of focus for our global 
sustainability programme and values-driven supply chain 
practices.
 
Synergy procures vanilla beans through sustainable 
sources that prioritise the well-being and livelihood 
of vanilla farmers and their families. We work only with 
suppliers that use traditional curing methods, which 
promote environmental and economic benefits in the 
community. By focusing on traditional curing methods, 
we are helping to extend seasonal employment for 
farmers and preparers while improving the quality of the 
vanilla we source.

OUR DAIRY SUPPLY CHAIN 
In a year where emissions from agriculture were under 
scrutiny, we are extremely proud to showcase the many 
ways our farmers have been partnering with us to show 
their commitment to farming in a sustainable and 
low-impact way. Whether is it water quality, breeding, 
renewable energy, reseeding, or a range of other 
approaches, our farmers are investing in their farms 
constantly to ensure that they are improving the land and 
their communities for future generations. 

Farmers are passionate about biodiversity, about new 
technologies and new approaches. We are proud of what 
we have achieved together so far and excited about what 
lies ahead in our collaboration to ensure a sustainable 
future for farming.

Appendix 1
 

including Annex VII

Plan for Ireland
2022 - 2027

Prepared by the Department of Housing, Local Government and Heritage

www.gov.ie/housing

PROTECTING OUR WATERWAYS
Agricultural Sustainability Support and Advisory
Programme (ASSAP) 
Carbery is a founding member of Dairy Sustainability 
Ireland (DSI), which created the Agricultural Sustainability 
Support and Advisory Programme (ASSAP). The 
programme, in its fourth year, offers a free advisory 
service to farmers to educate and advise them on ways 
in which they can optimise their farming practices to 
improve water quality. Despite the constraints of the 
Covid-19 pandemic, the work of the ASSAP continued 
in line with government guidelines. Carbery opened the 
ASSAP programme to all suppliers allowing them to avail 
of the services which offers a full farm assessment looking 
at farmyard management, land management, nutrient 
management and where applicable, riverbank and drain 
management. Since it’s inception in 2018, over 160 farms 
have received at least one visit from Carbery’s dedicated 
ASSAP advisors. 
 
In March 2021, Teagasc in collaboration with the dairy 
processing co-ops and the Local Authorities Waters 
Programme held the first Water Quality Week which 
provided technical information and advice on a range of 
topics to help farmers understand the risks and minimise 
the losses associated with waterbodies. Carbery continues 
to work closely with Teagasc on the programme which 
has been renewed for 2022 and will see expansion across 
the country through additional priority areas for action 
through the River Basin Management Plan. 

Synergy work only 
with vanilla suppliers 
that use traditional 
curing methods

This plan outlines prioirity 
areas for action for water 
quality
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BEST PRACTICE FARMING 
Carbery/Teagasc Joint Programme & Signpost 
Farms Update 
In 2021, the Carbery/Teagasc joint programme initiative 
was renewed for dairy farmers for the next five years. The 
objective of the monitor farm programme, running since 
1998, is to lead and demonstrate the development of carbon 
efficient and sustainable dairy farming in West Cork. This 
programme, run in conjunction with the West Cork co-ops 
(Bandon, Barryroe, Drinagh and Lisavaird) is critical in 
leading the development of dairy farming in the region. 

In addition to the Carbery/Teagasc Monitor Farms 
programme, the Signpost Programme which is a 
collaboration between industry and Teagasc, was launched 
in July 2021 to lead on climate action at the farm gate. 
The Signpost programme is a multi-annual campaign to 
lead climate action by all Irish farmers. and aims to achieve 
early progress in reducing gaseous emissions from Irish 
agriculture.

10 farms have been selected as part of the Carbery/Teagasc 
joint programme and 5 of these have also been selected 
as Signpost Farms. The group averaged 5907 litres/cow 
and 485 Kg’s/milk solids/cow in 2020. The herd EBI average 
for the group was €138. The aim over the next four years 
will be to improve these figures along with efficiencies in 
order to reduce carbon footprint and improve the overall 
environmental credentials of the group.

Members of the Carbery/
Teagasc Joint Programme 
learning about the Multi-Species 
Swards sown in Shinagh

REDUCING THE CLIMATE IMPACT OF OUR 
FARMS
Carbery farmers have continued to reduce their carbon 
footprint in 2021. The average carbon footprint of 
Carbery’s milk suppliers now stands at 0.94kg CO2 
equivalent.

Carbery Greener Dairy Farms (CGDF) Update 
The CGDF programme continued to work with farmers on 
the objectives of the programme which are to enhance 
efficiencies and improve environmental sustainability on 
all participating farms. Including the new monitor farms, 
there are now 70 farms participating in the programme. 
Similar to 2020, the Covid-19 pandemic curtailed us from 
hosting our usual in person events. Instead, a number of 
events were held virtually covering topics of nitrates and 
water quality, lowering the environmental footprint of the 
farm through the incorporation of clover and knowing your 
carbon footprint: ways to reduce it. The group undertook 
two field trips to Solohead farm, which is owned by Tipperary 
Co-operative Creamery, and in partnership with Teagasc, 
is used for research purposes. Solohead focuses on low 
input systems of milk production based on grass-white 
clover swards examining issues such as productivity, grazing 
management, persistency of clover in swards, nitrate 
leaching and emissions of nitrous oxide and ammonia. 
 
As part of the CGDF programme, Carbery has collabo-
rated with UCC to develop a diploma in environmental 
science and social policy for dairy farmers. Through 
the Carbery Greener Dairy Farms project, farmers 
were able to complete a diploma where parts of an 
existing diploma were recognised through the Retro-
spective Prior Learning (RPL) mechanism. On comple-
tion of the remaining 30 credits, farmers qualified 
for the Diploma in Environmental Science. We are delighted 
to say that our third group of farmers graduated in November 
bringing the total number who have completed the diploma 
to 38.

The 2021 graduates with their 
diploma in environmental science 
and social policy for dairy farmers 
from UCC
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ANIMAL HEALTH AND WELFARE 
We continued to support Animal Health Ireland (AHI) and 
our farmer suppliers to prioritise animal health and welfare 
to ensure the effective control of potential disease on farm. 
We supported a number of programmes through our 
involvement in the implementation groups of the national 
Johne’s Control Programme which aims to support farmers 
in the eradication of Johnes disease on farm and also the 
coordination of AHI’s national CellCheck programme which 
seeks to ensure top quality milk while also ensuring good 
animal health and less requirements for antibiotics. Carbery 
held a number of workshops for farmers in Autumn of 2021 
in conjunction with local specialists in the area to deliver 
workshops on prioritising animal health during the dry cow 
period. 

In 2021, Carbery partnered with Bord Bia to pilot the 
assessment of animal health and welfare criteria in addition 
to the existing Bord Bia Sustainable Beef & Lamb Standard 
(SBLAS) and/or Sustainable Dairy Assurance Standard 
(SDAS) health and welfare criteria. The pilot aims to 
establish the level of conformance of Irish farms to specific 
animal health and welfare criteria increasingly required 
by international markets and to make recommendations 
to future Technical Advisory Committees on the types of 
evidence available, methods for automating verification, and 
barriers to implementation. The feedback from participating 
farmers was very positive. 

FARMER WELFARE 
Carbery 2021 Farmer Webinar
Following on from our 2020 in-person conference, our 2021 
event in conjunction with Teagasc moved online to comply 
with Covid-19. Farmers were given advice on farm safety, 
health, exercise and wellbeing.

Speakers including Teagasc health and safety expert John 
McNamara, GAA star and physio Regina Buckley and long 
distance sea swimmer Steve Redmond, were very well 
received and gave excellent and timely advice about safety, 
diet and wellbeing and mindset.

Carbery 2021 Farmer Webinar

Sports Physio 
Rena Buckley

Health, Exercise,
& Nutrition.

Teagasc Health
& Safety  Specialist
John G. McNamara

Farming Safely

Motivational Speaker 
Steve Redmond
Positive Farming

Carbery CEO
Jason Hawkins

Dairy Update

Date: Wed 20th January 2021  

Zoom link

Staying safe, healthy and positive in 2021

Time: 8-9pm

The online conference 
took place during a 
national lock-down in 
January

CASE STUDY: MILK QUALITY AWARDS 
Ronald and Brian Shorten, farming in Woodfield, 
Clonakilty, were the overall winners of the 17th Carbery 
Milk Quality and Sustainability Awards. The Shortens are 
members of Lisavaird Co-op. Ronald and Brian are the 
third and fourth generation to farm the land, originally 
purchased by Ronald’s grandfather in the 1930s. 

The family, consisting of Ronald and Brian, Ronald’s 
wife Betty, and Brian’s brothers Mark and Andrew, is 
farming 120 cows on 173 acres, producing an average 
of 592kg of milk solids per cow. 

Ronald would describe himself as having always 
adopted new farming approaches since the eighties: 
“Farming is constantly evolving, and we want to evolve 
with the science as it changes.” Brian focuses on 
breeding, while Ronald likes to see happy healthy cows, 
with quality grass in front of them and producing well. 

The Shortens also have a focus on sustainability, 
planting clover and use a trailing shoe for slurry 
spreading to reduce emissions. They also have newly 
planted hedgerows. Of this, Ronald says: “Everyone in 
the farming sector will need to pull together as a team 
to manage sustainability”. 

Carbery Group Chairman, Cormac O’Keeffe added 
“Awards like this one, recognising the commitment, 
standards and sustainability of how we farm in Ireland 
and in West Cork, are more important now than ever. We 
will use the example of our 12 excellent nominees, and 
indeed all our suppliers, to tell the story of Irish family 
farming, which is about highest quality milk, grass-fed, 
healthy cows and looking after the land handed down 
through families and across generations.” 

MQA winners Ronald 
and Brian Shorten view 
farming as ever evolving 
and like to keep up with 
the latest developments
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MILK QUALITY &
SUSTAINABILITY
AWARDS

Milk Quality Award winners, 
Ronald and Brian Shorten 
(Lisavaird Co-op) of Woodfield, 
Clonakilty accepting their award 
at the ceremony in Fernhill House 
Hotel on the 9th November

‘...and the winner is!’ 
Carbery Chairman, 
Cormac O’Keeffe, 
announces the winner
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Milk 
Quality 
Winner
Bandon

Milk 
Quality 
Winner
Drinagh

Michael (Tony) Hawkes
Keel, Upton

Farming: 150 Acres 
Herd Size: 140 Cows 
Milk: 493kg of milk solids/cow

Gerard Harte
Richfordstown, Clonakilty

Farming: 53 Acres 
Herd Size: 30 Cows 
Milk: 600kg of milk solids/cow

John Collins
Caheragh North, Drinagh

Farming: 42 Acres 
Herd Size: 45 Cows 
Milk: 475kg of milk solids/cow

Ronald and Brian Shorten
Woodfield, Clonakilty

Farming: 173 Acres 
Herd Size: 120 Cows 
Milk: 593kg of milk solids/cow

Aidan Mulcahy  
Mishells, Bandon

Farming: 128 Acres 
Herd Size: 107 Cows 
Milk: 469kg of milk solids/cow

Ivor Anderson
Baurleigh, Bandon

Farming: 180 Acres 
Herd Size: 133 Cows 
Milk: 426kg of milk solids/cow

Elizabeth, David and Ian Warner
Upper Curraghlickey, Drinagh

 Farming: 257 Acres 
 Herd Size: 83 Cows 
 Milk: 442kg of milk solids/cow

Vivian and Evan Buttimer
Crohane, Ballinascarthy

Farming: 350 Acres 
Herd Size: 170 Cows 
Milk: 527kg of milk solids/cow

Michael O’Sullivan
Laragh, Bandon

Farming: 88 Acres 
Herd Size: 80 Cows 
Milk: 483kg of milk solids/cow

Micheál White
Ardgehane, Timoleague

Farming: 33 Acres 
Herd Size: 35 Cows 
Milk: 457kg of milk solids/cow

David Kingston
Curraghnaloughra, Drinagh

Farming: 43 Acres 
Herd Size: 36 Cows 
Milk: 443kg of milk solids/cow

Conor Murphy
Clonlea, Clonakilty

Farming: 190 Acres 
Herd Size: 136 Cows 
Milk: 560kg of milk solids/cow

Milk 
Quality 
Winner
Barryroe

Overall 
Milk 

Quality 
Winner

THE COMPLETE LIST OF FINALISTS AND WINNERS
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OUR  
PEOPLE

882
EMPLOYEES

25
NATIONALITIES

8
COUNTRIES

Aligns with 
SDG;

AS WE CONTINUE TO GROW, WE 
WANT TO ENSURE THAT CARBERY 
CONTINUES TO BE A PLACE THAT 
ATTRACTS AND RETAINS THE BEST 
TALENT, WHERE PEOPLE ARE 
SUPPORTED TO GROW, AND FEEL 
THAT THEY CAN DO THEIR BEST 
WORK.

OUR ENVIRONMENT OUR MARKETPLACEOUR PEOPLE OUR SUPPLY CHAIN OUR COMMUNITY

€

Our strong culture, which encourages working together to 
support each other, combined with the amazing resilience of 
our people, ensured that, despite the ongoing challenges 
posed by Covid, we continued to move forward. Our 
employees delivered excellent results under challenging 
circumstances, and the priority of our teams globally was 
to support and facilitate them to do this.

COVID, YEAR TWO
If 2020 was the year of dealing with the shock of Covid, 
2021 was the year where we focused our efforts on working 
through it, while keeping everyone safe and healthy. 

The safety work protocols, response teams, planning 
measures and communication practices that had been 
established in 2020 continued to be of top importance, as 
was the flexibility to dial them up and down as the Covid 
situation fluctuated globally. It wasn’t necessary for our 
organisation to introduce any pandemic related pay cuts or 
payment assistance, due to the recovery in food service and 
demand for our products and the efforts of our employees 
to meet that demand. We maintained a focus on wellbeing 
and safety throughout.

AN AGILE RESPONSE FOR AN 
UNCERTAIN FUTURE
We have a global workforce and although a large 
percentage of employees have worked offsite since 
March 2020, we also have manufacturing and production 
facilities that needed to be staffed, maintained and 
operated throughout. We commend all of our people, 
whether based on site or working elsewhere, for their 
commitment to keeping the company operational and 
thriving. 
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Due to this mix of working requirements, the leadership 
team took the decision to implement an approach to 
future ways of working that was flexible for employees, 
but also covered the needs of the business. The Moving 
Forward approach allows each employee to negotiate 
working arrangements directly with their manager to suit 
the needs of their role.

TALENT DEVELOPMENT
Our people are key to our performance and ensuring that 
we continue to support their growth and development is 
a clear imperative. Throughout 2021, we continued our 
focus on people development. Learning and development, 
succession and talent planning, and leadership development 
continued to be priorities. 

The majority of our learning moved to online, delivered 
through a variety of channels. LinkedIn Learning was 
introduced for our US team with good success. All 
managers globally continue to be supported with training 
and development courses. The learning opportunities 
covered everything from emotional intelligence, change 
management, personal leadership and teambuilding and 
employment law. 

Managers in Ireland were supported with the launch of 
Managers Communication Toolkits, where the core priorities 
of the organisation are collated and shared monthly to assist 
them in communicating with their teams.

In Europe and Ireland, leadership teams ran a number 
of offsite session covering a range of topics. Our team 
in Asia held a number of virtual leadership sessions and 
participated in a global development session on leadership.

The HR teams also used our internal communications and 
engagement platform Workvivo to set up dedicated spaces 
with resources to support and inform managers, as well as 
provide an online space for discussion and updates. 

In the US the HR team ran Connect for Success, a leadership 
and team building session held offsite in Arizona. Power 
Hours with managers was also launched – monthly meetings 
to exchange information, share best practices, communicate 
change and gather feedback.

CULTURE AND ENGAGEMENT
We undertook a variety of work to support and improve  
understanding of company culture and engagement. 
Working from the areas that had been identified as 
priorities in the Great Place to Work surveys, we focused 
on improving communications, rolling out a flexible work 
policy and working directly with teams who wanted to 
drive greater engagement. 

In the UK, the team created Wellness Winners to assist with 
a focus on wellbeing for employees. They ran yoga and 
meditation sessions, nutrition talks, a book club and a book 
swap library and gave tips on growing your own vegetables. 

The Employee Event Committee in the US organised a 
variety of seasonal celebrations including Halloween and 
Thanksgiving. 

The Irish team rolled out a series of three hour healthy shift 
working sessions for our operators. The feedback was very 
favourable and attendees were particularly positive about 
the focus on taking care of mental health.

SUPPORTING THE NEXT GENERATION
OF EMPLOYEES
Our connections with academia continued to deepen  
in 2021, and despite Covid, student and graduate 
placements continued successfully across the globe in 
all our functions. Together with the practical experience 
gained, we provide formal training to support students’ 
ongoing development.

The first recipient of the Carbery Scholarship with UCC 
was selected and we look forward to supporting this 
initiative for the next five years.

Thanksgiving 
celebrations in 
Synergy, Wauconda

Our 2021 Ireland graduates 

Synergy offsite 
day in the UK
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As a food producer, we have a pivotal role to play in ensuring 
that what we produce is meeting the nutritional and health 
needs of our customers. 

We know that consumers are paying more attention to their 
physical and mental wellbeing and are increasingly open 
to making changes to their diet and lifestyle. 

We are meeting our responsibilities as a food producer 
as well as our consumer’s evolving preferences, through 
a constant programme of new product development, 
innovation, and improving and enhancing existing product 
ranges. We are participants with our academic partners in 
research programmes that test the health benefits of our 
products.

DAIRY
Since 2019, Carbery has been working in partnership with 
a major Irish retailer, to reduce the amount of plastic in 
the cheese products that we supply to them for retail. This 
retailer has a commitment in their vision statement and 
sustainability strategy to reduce the volume of plastic used 
in their outlets by 50% by 2025. 
 
For safety and quality reasons, options for reducing plastic 
in cheese packaging can be limited. However, Carbery 
have worked closely with packaging partners to identify 
suitable alternatives and, in 2020 and 2021, we invested 
in reduced plastic packaging for key products. Carbery 
has reduced plastic to landfill by approx. 40% (23 tonnes) 
for this retailer across the products we supply to them. 
We are continuing to work with this retailer and others on 
packaging and hope to implement further plastic reduction 
in 2022 and beyond.

IN TODAY’S DYNAMIC AND FAST-
MOVING MARKETPLACE, WE 
HELP OUR CLIENTS STAY AHEAD 
OF CONSUMER PREFERENCES. 
WE’RE CONSTANTLY INNOVATING 
TO MEET GROWING DEMAND 
FOR HEALTHIER FOODS AND 
MORE ETHICAL PRODUCTS 
THAT STILL DELIVER ON ALL-
IMPORTANT TASTE.

OUR  
MARKETPLACE

OUR ENVIRONMENT OUR MARKETPLACEOUR PEOPLE OUR SUPPLY CHAIN OUR COMMUNITY

€

Aligns with 
SDG;

40% 
 REDUCTION 
IN PLASTIC TO 

LANDFILL

14% 
CALORIE 

REDUCTION IN 
BAKED GOODS
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Promoting the 
benefits of whey 
protein for active 
ageing

NUTRITION
At Carbery we are continuously innovating, creating, and 
adapting our products to suit all types of consumers. We 
continue to develop whey protein ingredients that are 
suitable for use across a wide range of convenient product 
formats that appeal to ageing adults. Due to its fast 
absorption rate and high leucine content, whey protein is 
an ideal protein source for an ageing population to improve 
physical status and prevent protein malnutrition. 

We have several research projects in our innovation pipeline 
with the objective to positively impact health and well-
being, these include:

 • Increasing appetite in an ageing population – 
  supporting an improved nutrition status

 • Evaluating the role of whey protein to promote  
  positive gut health status

 • Supporting long term research on the beneficial  
  effects of whey protein on metabolism

 • Whey protein supplementation to support active  
  sports and health and wellness

 • Blood glucose management through  
  a healthy diet and exercise

 • Boosting immune health and  
  reducing susceptibility to 
  infections though whey protein. 

All the indulgence consumers expect but with fewer calories and a significant 

reduction in fat. This flavour-based ingredient has been specifically designed to 

maintain functionality and flavour in nutritionally improved bakery products whilst 

keeping recipe costs low and labels clean.

Solution in Action

Product Applications

9
8
7
6
5
4
3
2
1

Sweetness

Fatty/Oily

Moistness
Creaminess

Indulgence

Overall Cake
Aroma

Caramelisation

Clagginess
mouthcoating

Descriptive sensory analysis revealed a 

significant improvement in indulgence, 

sweetness, creamy mouthfeel and 

overall aroma when the solution was 

added to a reduced fat muffin recipe. 

Further sensory preference tests 

revealed no significant difference in 

liking between the full fat muffin and 

a reduced fat muffin with the solution. 

 Sample 1: Full fat muffin (reference)

 Sample 2: Reduced fat muffin (control)

 Sample 3: Reduced fat muffin + solution

Synergy Flavours Ltd.

Synergy House,

Hillbottom Road,

High Wycombe,

HP12 4HJ, UK.

tel: +44 (0) 1494 492222

email: healthforthenation@synergytaste.com

web: uk.synergytaste.com

 @SynergyFlavours

Muffins & Cakes Cookies & Biscuits Morning Goods

Benefits

The Solution

Tailored
Convenient

Cost-effective Natural

NUTRITIONAL INFORMATION (per 100g)

 
Full fat muffin Reduced fat muffin

 
 + solution

Calories 367kcal 316kcal

Fat 
16.2g 10.2g

of which saturates 1.8g 1.4g

-22%
Sat Fat-37%

Fat-14%
Calories

Next Generation 

Calorie Reduction
A pioneering all-in-one solution that has been designed

to maintain taste, texture and mouthfeel in calorie-reduced 

bakery products. 

Leaflet from Synergy 
calorie reduction 
campaign

TASTE
Governments in Europe are putting pressure on the food  
industry to help consumers move to a healthier weight 
by reducing the amount of excessive calories in foods. 
Research shows people in the UK are consuming as many 
as 300 excess calories per day. Some industry bodies have 
suggested that recent sugar reduction guidelines do not 
go far enough and that manufacturers should be taking a 
more holistic approach by reducing excessive calorie levels 
in various food categories.

In 2021 Synergy developed a solution that can help bakers 
achieve up to 14% calorie reduction in a range of popular 
baked goods without compromising on the taste, texture 
and mouthfeel that consumers expect from a full fat bakery 
product.

We make product reformulation simple with an all-in-one 
solution that has been designed to maintain taste, texture 
and mouthfeel in calorie-reduced bakery products.Social media post for Carbery 

Cracker highlighting the 
reduced environmetlal  
of our new packaging
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REPORT OF THE 
COMMITTEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
Carbery Creameries Limited and Subsidiaries (“the Group”) 
is a leader in the development, manufacture and supply 
of cheeses, dairy and nutritional ingredients and flavours. 

The Group operates across many global geographies 
with facilities comprising research, manufacturing and 
commercial capabilities in Ireland, the UK, mainland Europe, 
the USA, South America, China and South East Asia. 

Synergy, the Group’s international flavours and taste business, 
continues to grow both organically and acquisitively from 
its European, Asian and American based facilities. During 
the year Carbery acquired Innova, a savoury flavour and 
ingredients supplier based in Chicago, Illinois. The addition 
of Innova to the Group expands the savoury capabilities 
of Synergy America and complements Synergy’s offerings 
worldwide.

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS
> Results and dividends
Group turnover increased by 17% in 2021 to €535.7m 
(2020: €459.5m). On a constant currency basis turnover 
increased by 18%. Group EBITA (operating profit before 
interest, exceptional costs, amortisation of goodwill and 
other intangibles, share of profit/losses in joint ventures 
and tax) increased by 10% to €31.2m (2020: €28.3m). On 
a constant currency basis EBITA increased by 14%. Profit 
before taxation on ordinary activities (excluding exceptional 
and once off items) in the financial year amounted to €23.7m 
compared with a profit of €22.9m in the year ended 31 
December 2020.

After debiting taxation of €6.3m (2020: debiting €5.8m) 
and paying dividends to minority interests of €Nil (2020: 
€0.1m) a profit of €17.4m has been transferred to reserves 
(2020: €16.9m).

Group net debt increased to €79.6m at 31 December 2021 
(2020: €57.8m). Group debt is presently funded by bank 
term debt and revolving credit facility borrowings with 
repayments of between one and ten year duration.

> Dividends
The committee does not propose to pay a dividend. Free 
cash flow for the Group increased in 2021 by €25.2m to 
€15.9m (2020: (€9.3m)) (non-GAAP).

> Results for the year
Details of the results for the year are set out in the 
consolidated income statement on page 51 and in the 
related notes forming part of the financial statements.

> Capital structure 
The Group finances its operations principally through 
cash generation, working capital facilities and bank debt. 
During 2012 and 2013 the Group broadened its capital 
structure with the issuance of equity in one of its subsidiary 
companies to its existing ‘A’ shareholders. This resulted in 
a cumulative amount of €9m of equity being subscribed 
for by the existing ‘A’ shareholders. During 2019 €7m of 
this equity was redeemed with the balance of €2m being 
redeemed during 2020. 

> Share capital 
Details of the share capital are shown in note 19 of the 
financial statements.

The share capital is divided into ‘A’ and ‘B’ ordinary shares, 
the respective rights of which are detailed in note 19. 
During the year ended 31 December 2021, 175,658 ‘B’ 
ordinary shares were issued, 11,384 ‘B’ ordinary shares were 
converted from processing notes and 79,938 ‘B’ ordinary 
shares were repurchased by the society under the terms of 
“The Milk Supply Share Scheme”.

> Milk Supply Share Scheme 
The Milk Supply Share Scheme was launched for the milk 
suppliers of the Group’s parent society ‘A’ shareholders 
during 2012.

The purpose of the milk supply share scheme was to ensure 
that Carbery was well positioned to efficiently manage the 
growth in milk supply volumes subsequent to the removal of 
milk quota limits which occurred on 1 April 2015. In addition 
the scheme is designed to enable milk suppliers share in 
the future growth of Carbery by the provision of an exit 
mechanism for suppliers retiring from milk supply in the 
future.

From 1 April 2015 milk suppliers are now obliged to have 
a minimum shareholding of 16 ‘B’ shares per 1,000 litres of 
pre April 2015 permanent milk quota (Existing Milk) and a 
minimum shareholding of 25 ‘B’ shares per 1,000 litres of 
extra milk (New Milk).

Following a review of the Scheme in 2016 the Board decided 
to decouple the entry price for New Milk from the ‘B’ share 
price with effect from 1 January 2017. As a result suppliers 
now have a choice of purchasing 25 Processing Notes or 25 
‘B’ shares per 1,000 litres of New Milk. Alternatively suppliers 
may purchase any combination of ‘B’ shares and Processing 
Notes provided that the combined number amounts to 25 
per 1,000 litres of New Milk. Each year there is an annual 
supply trading window for suppliers to purchase shares in 
respect of New Milk supplied in the preceding calendar 
year and a general trading window where suppliers may, if 
eligible, sell ‘B’ shares in Carbery.

In 2021 the Board of Carbery introduced the Share 
Redemption Exit Plan (SREP) as part of the Milk Supply 
Share Scheme. The purpose of the SREP is to enhance the 
manner in which long term milk suppliers can share in the 
equity value being created by Carbery. Under the SREP 
retiring milk suppliers whose milk has been supplied to 
Carbery for not less than 20 years will receive an enhanced 
value (equivalent to one bonus B share for each two B shares 
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held) at retirement for each B share held under the Milk 
Supply Share Scheme should they apply to have their shares 
redeemed (and subject to their application being approved 
by the Board).
 
OTHER COMMITTEES
The Board has established committees to help it discharge 
its responsibilities in compliance with appropriate corporate 
governance standards. Two such committees established by 
the Board are the Audit Committee and the Remuneration 
Committee.

These committees have specified terms of reference 
outlining their respective roles and the delegated authority 
of the Board. 
 
> Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Dermot O’Leary 
and its other members include; Mr. Seamus Daly, Mr. 
Peter Fleming and Mr. Pat Moriarty. All members of the 
Committee are determined by the Board to be independent 
non-executive directors. The Audit Committee met six 
times during the 2021 financial year. Under its terms of 
reference, the Audit Committee monitors the integrity 
of the Group’s financial statements, the independence of 
the external auditor, internal audit and risk management 
functions. The Committee is also responsible for monitoring 
the effectiveness of the external audit process and 
making recommendations to the Board in relation to the 
appointment, reappointment and remuneration of the 
external auditor. As appropriate, the Audit Committee is 
supported by expert independent professional advice on 
industry best practice.

> Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Cormac 
O’Keeffe and its other members include Mr. Dermot O’Leary, 
Mr. Raymond Collins, Mr. Peter Fleming and Mr. Donal 
McCarthy all of whom are determined by the Board to 
be independent non-executive directors. In delivering 
its responsibilities regarding remuneration policy for the 
Carbery Group, the Remuneration Committee applies 
robust governance standards to its decisions.

As appropriate, it is supported by expert independent 
professional advice on industry best practice, including 
benchmarking and other remuneration matters within its 
remit. The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration 
Committee are to establish and maintain a remuneration 
policy for the Group and to approve the remuneration 
arrangements for certain senior executives, including the 
Chief Executive. The Committee is also responsible for the 
remuneration policy in regard to the Group’s international 
senior executives, including those working with Synergy in 
global markets.

A key objective of the Group remuneration policy is to 
attract, retain and incentivise senior executives to grow 
shareholder value for the long term benefit of Carbery’s 
shareholders. In this regard, the Committee is responsible 
for approving the terms of the Synergy Long Term Incentive 
Plan (LTIP) for certain senior executives responsible for the 
strategic development and future growth of the Synergy 
business.

The Committee, at its discretion, is also responsible for 
making recommendations to the Board in respect of the 
remuneration and expenses payable to board members. 

The Remuneration Committee met four times during the 
2021 financial year.

Attendance at scheduled board and committee meetings 
during the financial year under review was as follows:

Board Member Board
Audit
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Cormac O’Keeffe1 19/19 3/3 4/4

Dermot O’Leary1 19/19 6/6 4/4

Gerard Brickley 19/19

Raymond Collins1  9/9 1/1

Seamus Daly 19/19 6/6

PeterFleming1 19/19 3/3 4/4

Pat Moriarty 19/19 3/3

Peadar Murphy1 19/19 3/3

Donal McCarthy1  9/9 1/1

TJ Sullivan 10/10 3/3

Jerome O’Mahony 10/10 3/3

1. Mr. Cormac O’Keeffe completed his term as Chairperson and member of the Audit Committee 
on 14 July 2021. Mr. Dermot O’Leary was appointed Chairperson of the Audit Committee on 
14 July 2021. Mr. Peadar Murphy completed his term on the Audit Committee on 14 July 2021 
and Mr. Peter Fleming was appointed in his stead. Mr. TJ Sullivan and Mr. Jerome O Mahony 
resigned as board members and members of the Remuneration Committee on 16 June 2021 
and Mr. Donal McCarthy and Mr. Raymond Collins were appointed as Board members on the 
same date. Mr. McCarthy and Mr. Collins were appointed as Members of the Remuneration 
Committee on 14 July 2021.

IMPORTANT EVENTS SINCE THE YEAR END
The Group recently completed a refinancing of its
primary bank facilities with Allied Irish Banks, Bank of Ireland 
and Rabobank comprising term debt, revolving credit 
facilities (RCF’s) and ancillary lines of credit in early 2022. 

The escalation of global geo-political tensions in recent 
weeks has brought uncertainty to European energy markets 
resulting in a significant and unprecedented increase in gas 
prices, an energy source which Carbery relies upon for its 
Ireland operations. The Group is monitoring the situation 
closely and taking any appropriate measures available to 
minimise the financial impact to the Group’s operations in 
2022.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS IN THE BUSINESS
The Group’s strategy is to develop its international dairy, 
nutrition and taste business in developed and developing 
markets in the years ahead. 

Further to the removal of quotas in April 2015 the Group’s 
Irish based dairy and nutrition business has managed the 
transition to increased capacity and growth output well.
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Brexit and the uncertainty surrounding it prevailed for most 
of 2020. The ultimate emergence of a deal in late 2020 has 
brought welcome stability to the transition of the UK from the 
EU. The Group’s dairy and nutritional business successfully 
completed the construction and commissioning of a new 
mozzarella facility during 2020 and 2021 was the first full year 
of production in this facility. This investment has enabled 
the business to broaden its cheese product portfolio and 
diversify into new markets since its commissioning in late 
2020. As well as providing the business with necessary further 
capacity, the investment will help insulate the business from 
any negative effects consequential to the decision of the 
UK to leave the EU. 

Building on another year of organic growth in 2021, the 
Group is confident that its taste business, Synergy, will 
continue to build on its increasing international presence 
and benefit from continuing strong growth rates in the 
years ahead. In addition to driving further organic growth 
within the existing business and further to the acquisition of 
Innova in the North American market during 2021, Synergy 
is committed to continuing its acquisitive growth strategy 
seeking further suitable acquisitions in its pursuit of growing 
market share internationally. 

As an international food and food ingredients business, 
the Group will continue to focus and invest in its success 
enabling platforms of technology, innovation, research 
and development and people talent to ensure it is well 
positioned to outperform market growth rates.
 
COMMITTEE AND SECRETARY’S INTERESTS
The committee members are as listed on page 47. 

Mr. TJ Sullivan and Mr. Jerome O’Mahony resigned as 
co-op committee members on 16 June 2021 and Mr. Donal 
McCarthy and Mr. Raymond Collins were appointed on the 
same day. 

Except for an indirect interest held by certain committee 
members in the four Co-Op ‘A’ shareholders and an interest 
in the ‘B’ ordinary shares received under the Patronage 
Loyalty Scheme and purchased under the Milk Supply Share 
Scheme, the committee members and the secretary had 
no interest in the shares of Carbery Creameries Limited or 
any of its trading subsidiaries at any time during the year.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
Research and development plays a critical role in the success 
of the Group’s activities. The Group continues to develop 
existing and new technologies and processes, establish 
centres of excellence in its critical markets and invest in 
procuring the best people to meet the ever changing needs 
of its global customer base.

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY
> Employees
Carbery Group’s success is dependent on the commitment, 
skills and creativity of its employees. Retaining employees 
and developing their skills is therefore central to the 
execution of the Group’s strategy in the years ahead. 

The Group will continue to pursue and ensure excellence 
in management and staff practices through the continued 
development and implementation of training and 
development programmes. 

The Group is committed to the principle of equality and 
diversity and complies with all relevant equality and anti-
discrimination legislation. 

> Environment
The Group is committed to all social and legal responsibilities 
in regard to the environment at large and is committed to 
growing its business in an environmentally responsible and 
sustainable manner.

This is borne out by the Group’s continued programme of 
investment in facilities, processes and systems that monitor 
and manage waste emission, energy consumption, materials 
and packaging conservation. Our Sustainability report which 
is included provides further details and information on this.

> Marketplace
Food quality and safety is of paramount importance 
to Carbery. The Group continues to invest in people, 
technologies, processes and facilities to ensure that the 
highest standards are maintained. 

> Communities
Carbery is committed to the local communities in which its 
facilities operate and encourages its businesses and people 
to support and participate in community-based initiatives 
and projects.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
As a significant manufacturer of cheese and to a lesser 
extent cream and milk powder, a significant proportion 
of the Group’s revenues are dependent on international 
dairy markets. Past experiences clearly illustrate the 
susceptibility of global dairy markets to periods of volatility. 
Notwithstanding the generally positive broader outlook for 
global food demand and consumption in the long term, 
there remains much uncertainty regarding dairy market 
returns in the medium and long term due to the ever present 
susceptibility to market volatility. 

As outlined earlier, for now the Brexit situation is relatively 
stable but the business will continue to monitor and manage 
any emerging implications closely, taking all necessary 
measures to minimise any impact on our suppliers and 
shareholders.

Global economic and geo-political factors continue to 
influence the dynamics of international markets. The impacts 
of such factors are varied but can have a consequence in 
terms of market demand, market access or market returns 
which in turn has the potential to impact Carbery’s business. 
Carbery continues to broaden its product portfolio as well 
as endeavouring to develop new markets thereby reducing 
both product and market specific risk. The Group takes an 
active role in ensuring its and its shareholders’ interests are 
advocated within appropriate industry and governmental 
forums. 
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The Group is a major user of energy in the form of steam 
and electricity. Against an already increasingly uncertain 
global energy environment, energy prices have escalated 
dramatically and significantly as a consequence of very 
recent geo political developments in Russia and Ukraine. 
The Group is monitoring the situation closely and taking 
any appropriate measures available to minimise the financial 
impact to the Group’s operations in 2022. Energy price 
movements will continue to have a material impact on the 
business’ cost base. Where appropriate the Group has 
forward hedges in place in respect of energy purchases 
from time to time.

Certain of the Group’s activities have trade-related foreign 
currency exposure most notably in Sterling and US Dollar. 
Where possible the Group manages these exposures by 
way of forward hedges. Further and sustained weakening 
in these currencies would lead to a deterioration in market 
returns and a possible decline in margins for elements of 
the Group’s dairy and dairy ingredients businesses. 

Cyber risk poses an increasingly significant challenge to 
international business organisations such as Carbery. The 
risk of malicious acts that seek to damage data, steal data, 
or disrupt business operations in general are increasingly 
predominant in today’s business environment. Carbery, 
like many businesses, is endeavouring to ensure it is well 
positioned to defend its business interests from cyber threats 
by investing in the requisite resources and technologies to 
mitigate such risk. To that end a Chief Information Officer 
was recruited to the business in 2020 and active strategies 
are in place to mitigate any potential cyber risk to the 
Group’s global interests.

Covid-19 has had a significant impact on global markets 
and supply chains in 2020 and 2021. The development and 
deployment of effective vaccines globally continues to have 
an increasingly positive impact on controlling the virus and 
as a result society at large continues to gradually open up 
as the positive impact of the vaccine program takes hold. 
Whilst 2021 saw continuing disruption to market activities 
with some sectors such as food service, travel and leisure 
continuing to be significantly impacted, the present outlook 
is for a continuing — albeit gradual — re-opening of global 
markets and a phased return to pre-Covid activity. This return 
to normal activity all hinges on the continuing roll out of the 
vaccine globally and the avoidance of further disruptions 
from virus variants. Undoubtedly this road to recovery will 
be prone to unexpected delays and developments over 
the course of 2022 as has been evident during 2021 with 
disruptions to certain markets and supply chains alike. In 
overall terms, Carbery’s business has proven itself to be 
broadly resilient to the challenges posed by Covid-19 over 
the past two years. Whilst the Group incurred continuing 
disruption to some of its food service customer base 
particularly in H1 2021, these losses were offset by stronger 
demand emerging in H2 as markets gradually re-opened 
as well as from gains secured by new business wins from 
a strong pipeline of commercial opportunities with both 
existing and new customers. Overall the Group’s exposure 
to food service and retail markets has a healthy balance and 
this has sustained it through the market collapses witnessed 
to the former market segment during the past two years. 

Given the supply chain challenges evident globally during 
2021, Carbery continues to manage supply chain constraints 
and customer needs with minimised disruption evident to 
date for the Group. Notwithstanding the beneficial impact 
of the global vaccine rollout, we are continuing to take all 
necessary steps and precautions to protect the health and 
wellbeing of our global workforce.

The Group has procedures in place to enable management 
and directors to continually monitor the performance of 
all areas of the business. These include the preparation 
of a detailed annual budget which is used for comparison 
with monthly management accounts throughout the year. 
In addition, such procedures include the reporting of key 
performance indicators such as EBITDA, gross margins, 
operating margins, free cash flow and return on capital 
employed (ROCE).

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group has an active approach to treasury and financial 
risk management operating a centralised treasury function 
to manage the financial risks of the Group. Key executives 
monitor the Group’s foreign exchange rate and interest 
rate risks and ensure that the Group has sufficient credit 
facilities available. Financial exposures are managed by 
using appropriate and approved financial instruments.

Principal foreign currency exposures arise on Sterling and 
US Dollar purchases and receivables. Transaction exposure 
is managed by netting receivables and payables and then by 
hedging net flows. Translation exposure is not hedged. The 
Group minimises statement of financial position translation 
exposure by matching foreign currency investments with 
foreign currency borrowings.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is typically 
managed by optimising the mix of fixed and floating rate 
borrowings.

Group liquidity is presently funded from operating cash 
generation and term debt that is maturing between one 
and ten years. The Group is considered a prime borrower 
and maintains strong relationships with key debt providers. 
The Group has performed strongly over recent years on key 
funding measurements of debt to EBITDA and EBITDA to 
interest. The Group recently completed a refinancing of 
its primary bank facilities with Allied Irish Banks, Bank of 
Ireland and Rabobank comprising term debt, revolving 
credit facilities (RCF’s) and ancillary lines of credit in early 
2022. The Group had already put additional funding in place 
during 2019 with the European Investment Bank to part fund 
the investment in our Irish operations.

POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS
The Group made no political donations or incurred any 
political expenditure during the current year or in the prior 
year.
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ACCOUNTING RECORDS
The Committee is responsible for ensuring that proper 
books and accounting records are kept by the Group. To 
achieve this, the Committee has appointed appropriate 
personnel to ensure that those requirements are complied 
with. These books and accounting records are maintained 
at Dromidiclough, Ballineen, Co. Cork.

RELEVANT AUDIT INFORMATION
The Committee believe that they have taken all steps 
necessary to make themselves aware of any relevant audit 
information and have established that the Group’s auditors 
are aware of that information. In so far as they are aware, 
there is no relevant audit information of which the Group’s 
auditors are unaware.

On behalf of the Committee:

Cormac O’Keeffe
Chairman

15th March 2022

Dermot O’Leary
Vice Chairman
15th March 2022
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COMMITTEE RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT
for the year ended 31st December 2021

The Committee are responsible for preparing the Committee Report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

The Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1893 to 2021 requires the committee to prepare financial statements for each 
financial year. Under that law they have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with FRS 102 The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland and applicable law.

The Society’s financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Society and of 
its surplus/deficit for that year. In preparing the financial statements, the Committee are required to:

 •  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
 •  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
 • state whether applicable Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed 
  and explained in the financial statements; 
 • assess the Society’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
  concern; and
 • use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Society or to cease operations, 
  or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Committee are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which enable them to prepare financial statements 
of the Society in accordance with the requirements of the Industrial and Provident Societies Act 1893 to 2021. They are 
responsible for such internal controls as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as 
are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Society and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. 
The Committee are also responsible for preparing the Annual Report that complies with the requirements of the Industrial 
and Provident Societies Act 1893 to 2021.

On behalf of the Committee:

Cormac O’Keeffe
Chairman

15th March 2022

Dermot O’Leary
Vice Chairman
15th March 2022
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INDEPENDENT 
AUDITORS’ REPORT  
TO THE MEMBERS  
OF CARBERY 
CREAMERIES LIMITED 
AND SUBSIDIARIES
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
> Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Carbery 
Creameries Limited and Subsidiaries (“the Society”) for 
the year ended 31 December 2021 set out on pages 51 to 
81, which comprise the consolidated income statement, 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity, consolidated statement 
of cash flows and related notes, including the summary 
of significant accounting policies set out in note 1.  The 
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is Irish Law and FRS 102 The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland issued 
in the United Kingdom by the Financial Reporting Council.

In our opinion:
 • the financial statements give a true and fair view of 
  the state of affairs of the Society as at 31 December 
  2021 and of its surplus for the year then ended;

 • the financial statements have been properly prepared 
  in accordance with FRS 102 The Financial Reporting 
  Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland.

> Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and 
applicable law.  Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements section of our report.  We 
are independent of the Society in accordance with ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of financial 
statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard 
issued by the Irish Auditing and Accounting Supervisory 
Authority (IAASA), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

> Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that 
the Committee use of the going concern basis of accounting 
in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not 
identified any material uncertainties relating to events 
or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast 
significant doubt on the Society’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the 
date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the 
Committee with respect to going concern are described 
in the relevant sections of this report.

> Other information
The Committee are responsible for the other information 
presented in the Annual Report together with the 
financial statements.  The other information comprises 
the information included in the committee report.  The 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon do not 
comprise part of the other information.  Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover the other information 
and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, 
except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial 
statements audit work, the information therein is materially 
misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our audit knowledge.  Based solely on that work undertaken 
during the course of the audit, we have not identified 
material misstatements in the other information.

> Our conclusions on the other matter on which we are 
required to report by the Industrial and Provident Societies 
Act 1893 to 2021 is set out below
As required by Section 13(2) of the Industrial and Provident 
Societies Act 1893 to 2021, we examined the balance sheets 
showing the receipts and expenditure, fund and effects of 
the Society, and verified the same with the books, deeds, 
documents, accounts and vouchers relating thereto, and 
found them to be correct, duly vouched, and in accordance 
with law.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES AND
RESTRICTIONS ON USE
> Responsibilities of Committee for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the committee responsibilities 
statement set out on page 48, the Committee are 
responsible for: the preparation of the financial statements 
including being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; 
such internal control as they determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
assessing the Society’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they 
either intend to liquidate the Society or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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> Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.  
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.  

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided 
on IAASA’s website at http://www.iaasa.ie/Publications/
Auditing-standards/International-Standards-on-
Auditing-for-use-in-Ire/Description-of-the-auditor-s-
responsibilities-for.

> The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe 
our responsibilities
Our report is made solely to the Society’s members, as 
a body.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the Society’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Society and the Society’s members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.  

Barrie O’Connell
16 March 2022
for and on behalf of
KPMG
Chartered Accountants, Statutory Audit Firm
85 South Mall
Cork
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 31st December 2021

Note 2021
(€’000)

2020 
(€’000)

Turnover 2 535,650 459,507

Cost of sales (405,353) (346,658)

Gross profit 130,297 112,849

Administrative expenses (105,019) (88,608)

Operating profit 3 25,278 24,241

Share of profit in joint ventures 9 133 154

Other interest receivable and similar income 5 8 23

Interest payable and similar charges 5 (1,707) (1,571)

Other finance income - retirement benefit and other 5 12 13

Profit before taxation 23,724 22,860

Taxation on profit 6 (6,283) (5,842)

Profit for the financial year 17,441 17,018

Profit for the financial year attributable to:
Non-controlling interests - 139

Owners of the parent society 17,441 16,879

Profit for the financial year 17,441 17,018

On behalf of the Committee:

Cormac O’Keeffe 
Chairman
15th March 2022

Dermot O’Leary
Vice Chairman
15th March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31st December 2021

Note 2021 
(€’000)

2020 
(€’000)

Profit for the financial year 17,441 17,018

Other comprehensive income

Remeasurement gain/(loss) recognised on defined benefit retirement benefit schemes 17 1,873 (364)

Movement on deferred tax relating to defined benefit pension schemes 17 (280) -

Currency translation difference on net assets of subsidiary undertakings 20 8,949 (10,396)

Cash flow hedges:
 - Change in value of hedge instrument
 - Reclassifications to income statement

20
20

672
(295)

295
(635)

Total other comprehensive income/(expense) 10,919 (11,100)

Total comprehensive income for the year 28,360 5,918

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

Non-controlling interests - 139

Owners of the parent society 28,360 5,779

28,360 5,918
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
at 31st December 2021

Non-current assets
Note 2021 

(€’000)
2020 
(€’000)

Intangible assets 7 47,550 27,261

Tangible assets 8 212,161 189,463

Financial assets 9 1,924 1,689

Pension surplus 17 2,243 -

263,878 218,413

Current assets

Stocks 10 80,952 65,667

Debtors (including amounts due after more than one year) 11 166,798 157,705

Cash at bank and in hand 14,743 15,937

262,493 239,309

Creditors: falling due within one year 12 (118,778) (103,073)

Net current assets 143,715 136,236

Total assets less current liabilities 407,593 354,649

Creditors: falling due after more than one year 13 (88,412) (69,710)

Provisions for liabilities

Deferred taxation 15 (10,824) (8,445)

Other provisions 15 (12,677) (11,057)

295,680 265,437

Government grants 18 (6,488) (5,032)

Net assets 289,192 260,405

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 19 86,398 86,291

Share reserve fund 2,293 1,973

Retained earnings 177,664 158,263

Other reserves 20 5,006 (3,953)

Shareholders’ loans 24 17,831 17,831

Equity attributable to owners of the parent society 289,192 260,405

On behalf of the Committee:

Cormac O’Keeffe 
Chairman
15th March 2022

Dermot O’Leary
Vice Chairman
15th March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31st December 2021

Called 
up 

share 
capital 
(€’000)

Share 
reserve 

fund
(Note 20) 

(€’000)

Retained 
earnings 
(€’000)

Other 
reserves
(Note 20)

 (€’000)

Shareholders’ 
loans’

(Note 24)
(€’000)

 Equity 
attributable to 
owners of the 
parent society 

(€’000)

Non- 
controlling 
interests 
(€’000)

Total 
equity
(€’000)

At 1 January 2020 86,325 2,078 141,308 7,223 17,831 254,765 2,000 256,765

Profit for the financial year − − 16,879 − − 16,879 139 17,018

Other comprehensive expense − − (364) (10,736) − (11,100) − (11,100)

Total comprehensive income  
for the year

− − 16,515 (10,736) − 5,779 139 5,918

Transfer from revaluation reserves − − 440 (440) − − − −

Shares issued during the year 162 501 − − − 663 − 663

Shares repurchased during the year (201) (620) − − − (821) − (821)

Share conversions 6 18 − − – 24 − 24

Processing note conversions (1) (4) − − – (5) − (5)

Redemption of non-controlling interest 
shares − − − − − − (2,000) (2,000)

Equity dividends paid to  
non-controlling interest

− − − − − − (139) (139)

At 31 December 2020 86,291 1,973 158,263 (3,953) 17,831 260,405 − 260,405

Profit for the financial year − − 17,441 − − 17,441 − 17,441

Other comprehensive income − − 1,593 9,326 − 10,919 − 10,919

Total comprehensive income for 
the year

− − 19,034 9,326 − 28,360 – 28,360

Transfer from revaluation reserves − − 367 (367) − − − −

Shares issued during the year 176 525 − − − 701 − 701

Shares repurchased during the year (80) (239) − − − (319) − (319)

Share conversions 11 34 − − − 45 − 45

At 31 December 2021 86,398 2,293 177,664 5,006 17,831 289,192 − 289,192
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 31st December 2021

2021 
(€’000)

2020 
(€’000)

Cashflows from operating activities

Profit before tax 23,724 22,860

Working capital adjustments

(Increase) in stock (11,736) (202)

(Increase) in debtors (5,679) (16,479)

Increase in creditors 12,545 17,495

Adjustments for non-cash items:

Increase in other provisions 1,619 2,096

Depreciation (net of grant amortisation) 17,691 15,247

Amortisation of intangibles 7,361 5,487

Loss on sale of fixed assets 1 12

Increase in unlisted investments - (8)

Share of profit in joint ventures (133) (154)

Net finance cost 1,698 1,548

Retirement benefit adjustments 1,593 (364)

Interest received 8 23

Finance costs paid (1,705) (1,537)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests - (139)

Defined benefit employer contributions paid (358) (351)

Corporation tax paid (3,667) (6,453)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 42,962 39,081

Cashflows from investing activities

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (26,510) (48,126)

Purchase of intangible fixed assets (614) (330)

Receipts from sale of tangible fixed assets 38 69

Investment in subsidiary undertaking - Innova (37,747) -

Net cash outflow from investing activities (64,833) (48,387)

Cashflows from financing activities

Issue of ‘B’ ordinary shares 746 687

Repurchase of ‘B’ ordinary shares (319) (826)

Issue of processing notes 568 551

Minority interests share redemption - (2,000)

Loans drawdown 29,218 27,723

Loan repayments (10,507) (13,502)

Capital element of finance leases 
and hire purchases repaid (14) (11)

Net cash inflow from financing activities 19,692 12,622

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents (2,179) 3,316

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 1,028 (604)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 15,879 13,167

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 14,728 15,879
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(i) Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt (€’000)

Decrease in cash (2,179)

Loan repayments 10,521

Loans issued (29,218)

Change in net debt resulting from cash flows (20,876)

Translation adjustment (906)

Movement in net debt in year (21,782)

Net debt at 1 January 2021 (57,780)

Net debt at 31 December 2021 (79,562)

(ii) Analysis of changes in net funds

At 1/1/2021
(€’000)

Net cash flow
(€’000)

Acquisitions
(€’000)

Exchange movement 
(€’000)

At 31/12/2021
(€’000)

Cash at bank and in hand 15,937 (2,222) − 1,028 14,743

Bank overdrafts (58) 43 − − (15)

Total cash and demand debt 15,879 (2,179) − 1,028 14,728

Loans repayable (73,645) 10,507 (29,218) (1,934) (94,290)

Finance leases and hire 
purchases (14) 14 - - -

(73,659) 10,521 (29,218) (1,934) (94,290)

Net debt (57,780) 8,342 (29,218) (906) (79,562)

Analysis of Net Debt

2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

Cash at bank and in hand 14,743 15,937

Bank overdrafts (15) (58)

Cash and cash equivalents 14,728 15,879

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
for the year ended 31st December 2021
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(a)  Statement of compliance
Carbery Creameries Limited is a registered society, 
incorporated, domiciled and registered in the Republic 
of Ireland. The address of the registered office is 
Dromidiclough, Ballineen, Co. Cork. 

The society Group financial statements have been prepared 
in compliance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Ireland as it applies to the financial statements of the Group 
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

(b)  Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared in Euro (€) which is 
the presentational currency of the Group and rounded to 
the nearest €1,000.

The Committee prepared these financial statements 
on a going concern basis. In making this judgement, 
management considered the Group’s budget and cash flow 
forecasts for a period of at least twelve months from the date 
of approval of the financial statements which demonstrate 
that the Group will be in a position to meet its liabilities as 
they fall due. Accordingly, these financial statements do 
not include any adjustments to the carrying amount and 
classification of assets and liabilities that may arise if the 
Group was unable to continue as a going concern.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise 
stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented 
in these financial statements. 

Judgements made by the directors, in the application of 
these accounting policies that have significant effect on the 
financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of 
material adjustment in the next year are discussed in note (f). 

(c)  Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate the financial 
statements of Carbery Creameries Limited and all its 
subsidiary undertakings drawn up to 31 December each 
year. A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the holding 
undertaking.

The results of the subsidiaries are consolidated from the 
date of their acquisition, being the date on which the Group 
obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the 
date that such control ceases. Control comprises the power 
to govern the financial and operating policies of the investee 
so as to obtain benefit from its activities. 

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant 
input but not control, over the operating and financial 
policies of the entity. Significant influence is presumed to 
exist when the investor holds between 20% and 50% of the 
equity voting rights.

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement undertaking in 
which the Group exercises joint control over the operating 
and financial policies of the entity. Where the joint venture 
is carried out through an entity, it is treated as a jointly 
controlled entity. The Group’s share of the profits less losses 
of associates and of jointly controlled entities is included 
in the consolidated profit and loss account and its interest 
in their net assets is recorded on the balance sheet using 
the equity method.

These financial statements are prepared for the Group on a 
consolidated basis. The parent entity society accounts are 
prepared separately.

(d)  Measurement convention 
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost 
basis except for certain assets and liabilities that are stated 
at their fair value including derivative financial instruments.

(e) Classification of financial instruments issued  
 by the Group
In accordance with FRS 102.22, financial instruments issued 
by the Group are treated as equity only to the extent that 
they meet the following two conditions:  

a) they include no contractual obligations upon the Group 
to deliver cash or other financial assets or to exchange 
financial assets or financial liabilities with another party 
under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the 
Group; and

b) where the instrument will or may be settled in the entity’s 
own equity instruments, it is either a non-derivative that 
includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of 
the entity’s own equity instruments or is a derivative that 
will be settled by the entity exchanging a fixed amount 
of cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its 
own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds 
of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where the 
instrument so classified takes the legal form of the entity’s 
own shares, the amounts presented in these financial 
statements for called up share capital and share premium 
account exclude amounts in relation to those shares. 

(f) Judgements and key sources of estimation 
 uncertainty
The preparation of the financial statements requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported for assets 
and liabilities as at the statement of financial position date 
and the amounts reported for revenues and expenses during 
the year. However, the nature of estimation means that actual 
outcomes could differ from those estimates. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31st December 2021
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(f)  Judgements and key sources of estimation 
 uncertainty (continued)

The following are the Group’s key sources of estimation 
uncertainty:

Revenue and stocks
The sales of some products to Ornua are based on “on 
account” prices which are subject to adjustment when the 
prices are finally agreed. In some cases the time period 
between the date when the product is invoiced at the on 
account price and when the prices are finally agreed could 
be as much as up to a year or more. Preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements requires management 
to make certain estimates and assumptions around the 
expected realisation of their stock and debtor balance which 
affect the reported profits and assets of the Group. As with 
any estimate the actual outturn may differ to the estimate. 
 
At the year end management, having estimated the 
expected realisation, review the stock and debtor values, 
and if required as a consequence reduce stock to the net 
realisable value and make the required adjustment to the 
“on account” pricing for their debtor balance. 

In their estimation process management typically consider 
previous pricing trends, predicted market variables including 
milk output, production volumes, currency trends, supply/
demand dynamics and general global economics to derive 
their best estimate of the expected realisation prices.

Retirement benefit
The cost of the defined benefit retirement plans is 
determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial 
valuation involves making assumptions about discount 
rates, future salary increases, mortality rates and future 
retirement benefit increases. Due to the complexity of 
the valuation, the underlying assumptions and the long 
term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject to 
significant uncertainty. In determining the appropriate 
discount rate, management considers the interest rates 
of corporate bonds in the respective currency with at least 
AA rating, with extrapolated maturities corresponding to 
the expected duration of the defined benefit obligation. 
The underlying bonds are further reviewed for quality, and 
those having excessive credit spreads are removed from the 
population of bonds on which the discount rate is based, 
on the basis that they do not represent high quality bonds. 
The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality 
tables for the specific country. Future salary increases and 
retirement benefit increases are based on expected future 
inflation rates in the Republic of Ireland. Further details are 
given in note 17.

Goodwill and intangible assets
The Group establishes a reliable estimate of the useful 
life of goodwill and intangible assets arising on business 
combinations. This estimate is based on a variety of factors 
such as the expected use of the acquired business, the 
expected useful life of the cash generating units to which the 

goodwill is attributed, any legal, regulatory or contractual 
provisions that can limit useful life and assumptions that 
market participants would consider in respect of similar 
businesses.

Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date or when 
indications exist whether any non-financial asset may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists the Group estimates 
the recoverable amount of the asset. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to 
sell or its value in use. Value in use is determined as the 
discounted future cash flows of the cash generating unit 
(CGU). The key assumptions for the value in use calculations 
are discount rates, cash flows and growth rates during 
the forecasted period. If it is not possible to estimate the 
recoverable amount of the individual asset, the Group 
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the 
asset belongs. The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU 
is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value 
in use. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is impaired and it 
is reduced to its recoverable amount through an impairment 
charge in the income statement. 

An impairment loss recognised for all non-financial assets, 
including goodwill, is reversed in a subsequent period if 
and only if the reasons for the impairment loss have ceased 
to apply.
 
Taxation
The Group establishes provisions based on reasonable 
estimates, for possible consequences of audits by the tax 
authorities of the respective countries in which it operates. 
The amount of such provisions is based on various factors, 
such as experience with previous tax audits and differing 
interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and 
the responsible tax authority.

Management estimation is required to determine the 
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, 
based upon likely timing and level of future taxable profits 
together with an assessment of the effect of future tax 
planning strategies. Further details are contained in note 6.

Long Term Incentive Plan
The cost used in the valuation of the Long Term Incentive 
Plan (LTIP) is subject to estimation. The terms of the plan 
are such that the participants are eligible to earn a bonus 
payment based on a calculation referenced to the growth 
in the profitability of the “Synergy Division”. Management’s 
estimation is required to determine the expected growth of 
the “Synergy Division”. The value of the LTIP is determined 
by applying assumptions to the actual values at the date of 
grant of LTIP units which apply an underlying growth factor 
to the projections over the period of the LTIP.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31st December 2021 (Continued)



59Back to Contents

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31st December 2021 (Continued)

(g) Turnover and revenue recognition and  
 other income
Revenue is recognised to the extent that the Group obtains 
the right to consideration in exchange for its performance. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received, excluding discounts, rebates, VAT and other sales 
taxes or duty. The following criteria must also be met before 
revenue is recognised: 

Sale of goods 
Revenue is recognised when the risks and rewards of the 
underlying products have been substantially transferred 
to the customer, which is usually on delivery, at a fixed and 
determinable price, and when collectability is reasonably 
assured. Rebates to customers are provided for in the period 
that the related sales are recorded based on the contract 
terms. The sales of some products to Ornua are based on 
‘on account’ prices which are subject to adjustment when 
the prices are finally agreed. Revenue in the year is adjusted 
for the estimated realisable value.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as interest accrues using the 
effective interest method.

Dividend income
Dividends income is recognised when the Group’s right to 
receive payment is established.

Convertible loan stock and trading bonus
Convertible loan stock and trading bonuses can be issued 
by Ornua to the Society, and other members, for each 
trading year based on qualifying trading activity. The 
trading bonus is recognised as income after approval by the 
Ornua board occurs and payment becomes irrevocable and 
unconditional. The loan stock is recognised as income, on a 
discounted basis, when approval by the Ornua board occurs 
and redemption becomes irrevocable and unconditional. 
Any loan stock approved for redemption not yet redeemed 
is recognised as a receivable.
 
(h) Goodwill
Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Positive goodwill acquired on each business combination 
is capitalised, classified as an asset on the consolidated 
statement of financial position and amortised on a straight 
line basis over its expected or estimated useful life of 20 
years.
 
Each year the goodwill will be reviewed for impairment 
indicators and an impairment loss will be booked where 
appropriate. 

The fair value of the assets and liabilities are based on 
valuations using assumptions deemed by management to 
be appropriate. Professional valuers are engaged when it 
is deemed appropriate to do so.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each cash generating unit that 
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
 
If a subsidiary, associate or business is subsequently sold 
or discontinued, any goodwill arising on acquisition that 
has not been amortised through the income statement is 
taken into account in determining the profit or loss on sale 
or discontinuance.

(i) Other intangibles
Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are 
capitalised at cost. Intangible assets acquired as part of 
an acquisition of a business are capitalised separately 
from goodwill if the fair value can be measured reliably on 
initial recognition. Intangible assets acquired as part of an 
acquisition are not recognised where they arise from legal 
or other contractual rights, and where there is no history 
of exchange transactions. Intangible assets, excluding 
development costs, created within the business are not 
capitalised and expenditure is charged against profits in 
the year in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets are stated 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment. Intangible assets are amortised on a straight 
line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

 Other intangibles
 Intangible formulae  5 to 10 years
 Intangible process
 technology   5 to 10 years
 Customer relationships  5 to 10 years
 ERP Systems/Software  5 to 10 years

If there are indicators that the residual value or useful life 
of an intangible asset has changed since the most recent 
annual reporting period, previous estimates shall be 
reviewed and, if current expectations differ, the residual 
value, amortisation method or useful life shall be amended. 
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern 
of consumption of benefit shall be accounted for as a change 
in accounting estimate.

(j) Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Such 
cost includes costs directly attributable to making the asset 
capable of operating as intended.
Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write off 
the cost less estimated residual value, of each asset, other 
than land, on a straight line basis over its expected useful 
life, as follows:

 Buildings     40 years
 Plant and machinery    3 to 20 years
 Motor vehicles    5 years
 IT systems and Infrastructure   3 to 10 years
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(j)	 Tangible	fixed	assets	(continued)
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values will 
be reviewed if there is an indication of a significant change 
since the last annual reporting date in the pattern by which 
the society expects to consume an asset’s future economic 
benefits.

Plant advances which are not in use, including buildings 
and equipment are not depreciated.

(k) Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised initially at fair value which is 
normally the transaction price (but excludes any transaction 
costs, where the investment is subsequently measured at 
fair value through income statement). Subsequently, they 
are measured at fair value through income statement except 
for those equity investments that are not publicly traded 
and whose fair value cannot otherwise be measured reliably 
which are recognised at cost less impairment until a reliable 
measure of fair value becomes available.

If a reliable measure of fair value is no longer available, 
the equity instrument’s fair value on the last date the 
instrument was reliably measurable is treated as the cost 
of the instrument.

(l) Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Cost includes all costs incurred in bringing each  
product to its present location and condition.
 - Raw materials and consumable stores comprise of 
  purchase cost on a first-in, first out basis.
 - In the case of finished goods, cost comprises 
  purchase price of materials and an appropriate 
  portion of labour and production overheads. 
Net realisable value is based on estimated normal selling 
price less further costs expected to be incurred to completion 
and disposal. Maintenance stocks are held in order to 
provide sufficient spare parts to ensure efficient operation 
of essential plant and equipment used for manufacturing 
and ancillary supporting services. The stock are allocated 
to repairs on consumption and have been recorded at cost.

(m) Debtors and creditors
Trade and other debtors and trade creditors and other 
creditors with no stated interest rate and receivable or 
payable within one year are recorded at transaction price 
less attributable transaction costs. Any losses arising from 
impairment are recognised in the income statement in other 
operating expenses.

Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses in the case of trade and other debtors. 
If the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, for 
example if payment is deferred beyond normal business 
terms, then it is measured at the present value of future 
payments discounted at a market rate of interest for a similar 
debt instrument.

Asset for carbon credits 
Carbon credits purchased are accounted for at cost. Cost is 
determined on a first in first out basis. The cost of the asset 
is subject to impairment review.  

Liability for carbon emissions 
A liability is recorded as emissions are created. The liability 
is recognised at the cost of carbon credits on hand to the 
extent that there are sufficient credits on hand to meet the 
liability at any one time. Where there are insufficient carbon 
credits, then any excess liability is measured at the fair value 
of purchasing the additional carbon credits. 

When the carbon credits are surrendered in settlement of a 
liability then both the asset and liability are derecognised.

(n) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash 
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank 
and in hand, bank overdrafts and short term deposits with 
an original maturity of three months or less.

(o) Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in 
the functional currency by applying the spot exchange rate 
ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rate of exchange ruling at the statement of financial 
position date. All differences are taken to the income 
statement.
 

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional 
currency and items included in the financial statements  
of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

The assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiary undertakings, 
including goodwill, are translated into the presentation 
currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the statement 
of financial position date. Key income and expenses 
within each overseas statement of comprehensive income 
are translated at the particular average exchange rates 
prevailing for the period.

Exchange differences resulting from the retranslation of the 
net investment in overseas subsidiaries and joint ventures at 
closing rates together with the differences on the translation 
of their income statements are recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income in the period and accumulated in 
the deferred translation reserve in the statement of financial 
position.

Rates used for translation of significant results and net 
assets into Euro:

Average rates (Turnover)
   2021  2020
 US$  1.1826  1.1382
 GBP£ 0.8597  0.8884

Closing Rates (31 December)
   2021  2020
 US$  1.1370  1.2225
 GBP£ 0.8413  0.8956

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31st December 2021 (Continued)
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(p) Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and 
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit and loss account 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised 
directly in equity or other comprehensive income. Current 
tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the 
taxable income or loss for the year using tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences 
which are differences between taxable profits and total 
comprehensive income that arise from the inclusion of 
income and expenses in tax assessments in periods different 
from those in which they are recognised in the financial 
statements, except that:

- provision is made for deferred tax that would arise  
 on remittance of the retained earnings of overseas  
 subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures only to the 
 extent that, at the statement of financial position date, 
 dividends have been accrued as receivable;
- where there are differences between amounts that can 
 be deducted for tax for assets (other than goodwill) and  
 liabilities compared with the amounts that are recognised  
 for those assets and liabilities in a business combination,  
 a deferred tax liability/asset shall be recognised. The  
 amount attributed to goodwill is adjusted by the amount  
 of the deferred tax recognised; and
- unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax assets are  
 recognised only to the extent that the directors consider  
 that it is probable that they will be recovered against the  
 reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable  
 profits.

Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at 
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in 
which timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and 
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of 
financial position date.

Corporation tax is provided on taxable profits at the current 
rates.

(q) Provisions
A provision is recognised when the Group has a present  
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event that 
can be reliably measured and is probable that an outflow  
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 
Provisions are recognised at the best estimate of the amount 
required to settle the obligation at the reporting date.

(r) Hedges of a net investment
Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including 
a hedge of a monetary item that is accounted for as part 
of the net investment, are accounted for in a way similar to 
cash flow hedges. Gains or losses on the hedging instrument 
relating to the effective portion of the hedge are recognised 
as other comprehensive income while any gains or losses 
relating to the ineffective portion are recognised in the 
income statement. On disposal of the foreign operation, 
the cumulative value of any such gains or losses recorded 
in equity is transferred to the income statement.

(s) Derivative financial instruments and hedging
The Group uses forward foreign currency contracts to reduce 
exposure on foreign exchange rates. 

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured 
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract 
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair 
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value 
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

The fair value of forward foreign currency contracts is 
calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates 
for contracts with similar maturity profiles.

The Group applies hedge accounting in respect of forward 
foreign exchange contracts held to manage the cash flow 
exposures of forecast transactions denominated in foreign 
currencies. The forward foreign exchange contracts are 
designated as cash flow hedges of forecasted transactions.

Changes in the fair values of derivatives designated as cash 
flow hedges, and which are effective, are recognised directly 
in other comprehensive income. Any ineffectiveness in the 
hedging relationship (being the excess of the cumulative 
change in fair value of the hedging instrument since 
inception of the hedge over the cumulative change in the 
fair value of the hedged item since inception of the hedge) 
is taken directly to the income statement.

The gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income 
is reclassified to the income statement when the hedge 
relationship ends. Hedge accounting is discontinued 
when the hedging instrument expires, no longer meets the 
hedging criteria, the forecast transaction is no longer highly 
probable, the hedged asset or liability is derecognised or 
the hedging instrument is terminated.

(t) Leases 
Assets held under finance leases, which are leases where 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset have passed to the Group, and hire purchase contracts 
are capitalised in the statement of financial position and 
are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the 
asset’s useful life. A corresponding liability is recognised for 
the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present 
value of the minimum lease payments in the statement of 
financial position. Lease payments are apportioned between 
the reduction of the lease liability and finance charges in 
the income statement so as to achieve a constant rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged in the 
income statement on a straight line basis over the lease 
term. Lease incentives are recognised over the lease term 
on a straight line basis.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(u) Government and other grants
Government grants are recognised when it is reasonable to 
expect that the grants will be received and that all related 
conditions will be met, usually on submission of a valid 
claim for payment.

Government grants in respect of capital expenditure are 
credited to a deferred income account and are released to 
the income statement over the expected useful lives of the 
relevant assets by equal annual instalments. 

Grants of a revenue nature are credited to the income 
statement so as to match them with the expenditure to 
which they relate.

Research and development tax credits claimed under 
legislation are treated in the same way as government 
grants and credited to the income statement in the year 
in which the expenditure to which they relate is charged. 

(v) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
All interest-bearing loans and borrowings which are basic 
financial instruments are initially recognised at the present 
value of cash payable to the bank (including interest). After 
initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method, less impairment. 
The effective interest rate charges amortisation is included 
in finance charges in the income statement.

(w) Accounting for Long Term Incentive Plan
Synergy, the international flavours division of Carbery Group, 
has a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) in place. Phase 1 
of the Synergy LTIP is in place since 2008 and allocations 
to participants under this phase ceased in 2014. Phase 
2 commenced in 2015 with allocations to participants 
commencing the same year. The terms and conditions of 
the LTIP were approved by the Remuneration Committee 
under independent professional advice and in accordance 
with best governance standards. 

Under the terms of the LTIP, certain senior executives in 
Ireland, the UK, Europe and the US (including executive 
directors) are invited to participate. The terms of the plan 
are such that the participants are eligible to earn a bonus 
payment based on a calculation referenced to the growth 
in the profitability of Synergy. 

The Plan is a long term one and amounts which may be 
determined as due to the participants will therefore accrue 
over the term of the plan. Provision is made at each year end 
using the same accounting methodology as used for defined 
benefit retirement plans as detailed in the following note 
and based on the terms of the plan and taking account of 
the expected growth of Synergy. Once paid the amounts are 
included in the wages and salaries disclosure of the Group.

(x) Retirement benefit costs
The Group operates both defined benefit pension schemes 
and defined contribution pension schemes for its employees 
which require contributions to be made to separately 
administered funds. 

Defined benefit pension scheme assets are measured 
using fair values; retirement benefit scheme liabilities are 
measured using the projected unit credit method which 
attributes entitlement to benefits to the current period 
(to determine current service cost) and to the current and 
prior periods (to determine the present value of defined 
benefit obligations) and is based on actuarial advice. When a 
settlement or a curtailment occur the change in the present 
value of the scheme liabilities and the fair value of the plan 
assets reflects the gain or loss which is recognised in the 
income statement during the period in which it occurs.
The net interest element is determined by multiplying the 
net defined benefit liability by the discount rate, at the 
start of the period taking into account any changes in the 
net defined benefit liability during the period as a result 
of contribution and benefit payments. The net interest 
is recognised in the income statement as other finance 
income or cost.

Re-measurements, comprising actuarial gains and losses, 
the effect of the asset ceiling and the return on the net 
defined benefit liability (excluding amounts included in net 
interest) are recognised immediately in other comprehensive 
income in the period in which they occur. 

Re-measurements are not reclassified to the income 
statement in subsequent periods. 

The net defined benefit pension asset or liability in the 
statement of financial position comprises the total for each 
plan of the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
(using a discount rate based on high quality corporate 
bonds), less the fair value of plan assets out of which the 
obligations are to be settled directly. 
 
Fair value is based on market price information and in the 
case of quoted securities is the published bid price. 
The value of a net defined benefit pension asset is limited to 
the amount that may be recovered either through reduced 
contributions or agreed refunds from the scheme. 
Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are 
recognised in the income statement in the period in which 
they become payable.

(z) Research and development
Expenditure on research and development is charged to 
the income statement in the year in which the expenditure 
is incurred.
 
Development expenditure is capitalised in accordance with 
the following accounting policy. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Initial capitalisation of costs is based on management’s 
judgement that technical and economic feasibility is 
confirmed, usually when a product development project 
has reached a defined milestone according to an established 
project management model. In determining the amounts to 
be capitalised management makes assumptions regarding 
the expected future cash generation of the assets, discount 
rates to be applied and the expected period of benefit.

(aa) Shareholders’ and milk suppliers’ loans 
An equity instrument is a contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all its 
liabilities. Accordingly, a financial instrument is treated as 
equity if:
  (i) There is no contractual obligation to deliver cash  
  or other financial assets or to exchange financial  
  assets or liabilities on terms that may be 
  unfavourable.
  (ii) The instrument is a non-derivative that contains  
  no contractual obligations to deliver a variable  
  number of shares or is a derivative that will be  
  settled only by the Group exchanging a fixed  
  amount of cash or other assets for a fixed number 
  of the Group’s own equity instruments.

The Group’s shareholders’ loans are classified as equity as 
there is no contractual obligation to repay the loans and 
are non-derivative in nature. 

(ab)  Financial liabilities 
A financial liability is any liability that is:
(a)  a contractual obligation:
 (i) to deliver cash or another financial asset to another  
  entity; or
 (ii)  to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities  
  with another entity under conditions that are  
  potentially unfavourable to the entity; or

(b) a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own 
equity instruments and:
 (i)  under which the entity is or may be obliged to deliver  
  a variable number of the entity’s own equity  
  instruments; or
 (ii)  which will or may be settled other than by the  
  exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another  
  financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own  
  equity instruments. For this purpose the entity’s  
  own equity instruments do not include instruments  
  that are themselves contracts for the future receipt  
  or delivery of the entity’s own equity instruments. 

The Group’s Processing Notes are classified as financial 
liabilities under Creditors: falling due after more than one 
year, as the notes may be redeemed, on cessation of milk 
supply, by milk supplier shareholders at an unspecified 
future date for cash at the price paid or may be settled by 
the delivery of a variable number of B Shares in the Society 
based on the prevailing share price as determined from 
the most recent valuation. The processing notes will be 
redeemed if milk supply falls below a minimum level.

(ac) Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase 
method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which 
control is transferred to the company. At the acquisition 
date, the company recognises goodwill as:

-  the fair value of the consideration transferred plus
-  estimated amount of contingent consideration if  
  any plus
-  the fair value of the equity instrument plus
-  directly attributable transaction costs plus
-  the net recognised amount (generally fair value)  
  of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities  
  and contingent liabilities assumed.

Please refer to note 21 for further details.

(ad)  Reclassifications
In preparing the financial statements for the current year, 
the comparative figures for the year ended 31 December 
2020 have been reclassified. Certain expenses have been 
reclassified from administrative expenses to cost of sales.  
The change in presentation is to align with the Group’s 
internal financial information and KPI’s for tracking expense 
classifications.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31st December 2021 (Continued)

2. TURNOVER
 
The amount of each category of revenue recognised in the year is as follows:

2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

Sale of goods 535,650 459,507

3. OPERATING PROFIT

Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):

2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

Research and development expenditure 6,372 6,702

Foreign exchange differences 147 180

Depreciation charge:
Depreciation of owned assets (Note 8) 18,210 15,553

Depreciation of assets held under finance leases
and hire purchase contracts (Note 8) - 11

Amortisation of intangibles (Note 7) 7,362 5,487

Amortisation of government grants (Note 18) (518) (317)

Operating lease rentals:
Land and buildings 455 75

Plant and machinery 97 95

Motor vehicles 130 138

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 1 12

4. EMPLOYEES

The average number of persons employed by the Group (including executive directors) 
during the year, analysed by category, was as follows:

2021
Number

2020
Number

Production/operations/technical 649 592

Sales 109 92

Administration 124 109

882 793

The aggregate payroll costs of these employees were as follows: 2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

Wages and salaries 56,103 50,250

Social welfare costs 5,190 4,568

Retirement benefit and related costs 2,511 2,698

Other costs 3,006 2,840

Total employee costs 66,810 60,356

Long term incentive plan paid during the year - 939

Total payroll related costs 66,810 61,295

Other costs include health insurance and other benefits paid. Total wages and salary costs included above that were capitalised during the 
year were €0.06m (2020: €0.01m).
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5. INTEREST

2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

Other Interest receivable and similar income:
Interest receivable on bank deposits (8) (23)

(8) (23)

Interest payable and similar charges:
Finance and hire purchase lease interest - 1

Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts
wholly repayable within five years 1,707 1,570

1,707 1,571

Other finance income - retirement benefit and other:
Retirement benefit finance (credit) (12) (13)

6. TAXATION
Total tax expense recognised in the profit and loss account,  
other comprehensive income and equity

2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

(a) Tax on profit 6,283 5,842

Current tax:
Corporation tax on profit for the year 2,891 5,136

Adjustments in respect of prior years’ 668 (718)

Group current tax 3,559 4,418

Share of joint ventures’ current tax − 13

Total current tax 3,559 4,431

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of timing differences 2,745 2,130

Adjustments in respect of prior years (21) (22)

Utilisation of tax (losses) − (697)

Total deferred tax 2,724 1,411

Tax on profit 6,283 5,842

(b) Tax included in Statement of Other Comprehensive Income

Actuarial loss on retirement benefit scheme 280 −

Total tax charge OCI 280 −

(c) Factors affecting the total tax charge
The tax assessed for the year is different from the standard rates of corporation tax in Ireland. 
The differences are explained below:

Profit before tax 23,724 22,860

Profit multiplied by the 
    Irish standard rate of tax 12.5% 2,966 2,858

Effects of:
Tax depreciation in year in deficit of depreciation 340 1,294

Intangibles amortisation in excess of tax deduction 1,730 347

Tax exempt earnings and credits (387) (1,883)

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 1,359 2,685

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 178 383

Adjustments in respect of prior years 647 (740)

Others (550) 898

Total Group tax 6,283 5,842

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The Group has tax losses and credits arising in Ireland of €8.8m 
that are available indefinitely for offset against future taxable 
profits of those companies in which losses and credits arose and 
are recognised as part of current assets either falling due within 
one year or after more than one year based on management’s 
estimation on timing of recoverability.

Current or deferred tax assets are not recognised in respect 
of losses that arise in certain subsidiaries if there is insufficient 
certainty as to the timing of the ultimate utilisation of such tax 
losses.

The Group’s overseas tax rates are higher than those in the 
Republic of Ireland primarily because the profits earned by 
the Synergy division are taxed at headline rates of 26.78% in 
the US and 19% in the UK. For 2022 these headline rates are 
projected to be 26.78% and 19% respectively. The Chancellor 
of the Exchequer in the UK announced in the 2021 UK Budget 
that corporation tax rates will increase to 25% from April 2023.

No deferred tax is recognised on the unremitted earnings of 
overseas subsidiaries and joint venture as the Group has no 
commitment to repatriate funds that will be subject to taxation 
in Ireland in the foreseeable future.

(d) Factors that may affect future tax charges

6. TAXATION (continued)

2021 
(€’000)

2020 
(€’000)

(e) Deferred tax 
The deferred tax included in the statement of financial position is as follows:

Included in debtors (note 11) 1,081 1,060

Included in provision for liabilities (note 15) (10,824) (8,445)

(9,743) (7,385)

Deferred tax is recognised on the following: 
Accelerated capital allowances and tax depreciation (12,135) (8,882)

Arising on pension liability
Tax amortisation of goodwill and intangibles

(280) −

less than book amortisation (289) 190

Other timing differences/expenses 2,961 1,307

(9,743) (7,385)

The movement in the deferred tax included in the statement of financial position is as follows:

At 1 January - net (7,385) (6,350)

Deferred tax (debited) to income statement for the year (3,025) (2,130)

Origination of tax losses in the year − 697

Adjustments in respect of prior years’ 21 22

Arising on acquisitions (note 21) 1,049 −

Exchange adjustment (403) 376

Provision at 31 December - net (9,743) (7,385)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31st December 2021 (Continued)



67Back to Contents

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill
(€’000)

Acquisition related
intangible assets

(€’000)

Computer software
& other intangibles

(€’000)
Total
(€’000)

Cost:
At 1 January 2021 75,097 27,784 10,442 113,323

Additions − − 614 614

Acquisitions (note 21) 12,813 11,185 − 23,998

Effect of movements in foreign 
exchange 6,189 2,627 590 9,406

At 31 December 2021 94,099 41,596 11,646 147,341

Amortisation:
At 1 January 2021 55,060 26,618 4,384 86,062

Amortised during the year 3,860 2,089 1,413 7,362

Effect of movements in foreign 
exchange 4,105 1,975 287 6,367

At 31 December 2021 63,025 30,682 6,084 99,791

Net book value:
At 31 December 2021 31,074 10,914 5,562 47,550

At 31 December 2020 20,037 1,166 6,058 27,261

Goodwill and other intangibles primarily result from prior 
acquisitions within the Synergy division. Other intangibles 
include formulas, process technology and customer 
relationships separately identifiable at the respective acquisition 
dates. Goodwill and other intangibles are amortised over their 
expected useful lives and are also subject to annual impairment 
testing or more frequently if there are indicators of impairment. 
The amortisation of Goodwill and Other Intangibles charged to 
the Consolidated Income Statement in 2021 is €7.4m.

Under FRS 102, investments in ERP systems software are 
classified as intangible assets.

The recoverable amount of goodwill and intangibles allocated 
to a cash generating unit (CGU) is determined based on a value 
in use computation. Goodwill and intangibles acquired in a 
business combination are allocated to CGUs that are expected 
to benefit from the business acquisition. Where practically 
measurable and identifiable, intangible assets are sub-allocated 
within CGUs at specific location or site level or otherwise they 
are grouped at a geographical or divisional level.

The key assumptions employed in arriving at the estimates of 
future cash flows factored into impairment testing are subjective 
as they are based on a combination of management’s past 
experience and estimates of future outcomes. Key assumptions 
include managements’ estimates of future profitability, cash 
flow components and discount rates. 

Cash flow forecasts, employed for the value in use calculations 
are for a five year period approved by management and a 
terminal value which is applied to year five cash flows. The 
terminal value reflects the discounted present value of the 
cash flows beyond year five which is based on projected long 
term growth rates for the particular market in which the CGU 
operates. The present value of future cash flows is calculated 
using a pre-tax discount rate which is based on the Group’s 
weighted average cost of capital (WACC) adjusted to reflect the 
risks associated with that specific CGU.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31st December 2021 (Continued)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31st December 2021 (Continued)

8. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Land &  
buildings
 (€’000)

Leasehold
improvements  

(€’000)

Plant &
machinery

owned  
(€’000)

Plant &
machinery

leased
(€’000)

Motor
vehicles 
(€’000)

Plant
advances 

(€’000)
Total 

(€’000)

Cost:

At 1 January 2021 98,212 768 258,092 173 198 7,702 365,145

Acquisitions 5,418 2,407 835 − − 2,003 10,663

Additions 6,792 − 17,511 − 13 1,458 25,774

Disposals (21) − (838) − (14) − (873)

Transfers 3,360 − 1,696 − − (5,056) −

Exchange adjustments 3,116 174 4,067 8 2 49 7,416

At 31 December 2021 116,877 3,349 281,363 181 199 6,156 408,125

Depreciation:

At 1 January 2021 23,903 273 151,208 162 136 − 175,682

Charged during year 2,736 108 15,344 − 22 − 18,210

Disposals (21) − (804) − (9) − (834)

Transfers − − − − − − −

Exchange adjustments 529 22 2,346 7 2 − 2,906

At 31 December 2021 27,147 403 168,094 169 151 − 195,964

Net book value:
At 31 December 2021 89,730 2,946 113,269 12 48 6,156 212,161

At 31 December 2020 74,309 495 106,884 11 62 7,702 189,463

9. FINANCIAL ASSETS
Joint ventures 2021

(€’000)
2020
(€’000)

At 1 January 1,499 1,443

Share of profit retained by joint ventures 133 154

Share of tax charge in joint ventures − (13)

Exchange movements 102 (85)

At 31 December 1,734 1,499

Unlisted investments – at cost less impairment

At 1 January 190 182

Bonus shares issued − 8

At 31 December 190 190

Total financial assets and investments 1,924 1,689

The Group’s investment in Ornua Co-operative Limited (Ornua) is recognised at the nominal value of the shares held based on the Group’s share 
of “B” Ordinary and Bonus shares in Ornua at €1 each.

Details of principal subsidiaries and joint ventures are included in note 26 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31st December 2021 (Continued)

10. STOCKS

2021 
(€’000)

2020 
(€’000)

Raw materials 25,503 15,578

Consumable and maintenance stores 5,545 3,999

Finished goods 49,904 46,090

80,952 65,667

A material portion of the Group’s product portfolio is commodity 
in nature. There is a requirement at period end to review the 
carrying value or cost of certain stocks and compare this to 
their estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell (net 
realisable value or NRV) to ensure that stocks are valued at the 
lower of cost or NRV. Where the carrying value is greater than 
the estimated NRV, the Group makes a provision resulting in 
a charge to the income statement in the period. Should the 
final selling price less costs to complete and sell exceed the 

previously estimated NRV then the Group will reverse or credit 
this to the income statement in the subsequent period. The 
net charge to the income statement in the year resulting from 
year end reviews of cost versus NRV together with prior year 
reversals was €1.1m (2020: €1.9m).

In addition, stocks written off as an expense in the year were 
€1.5m (2020: €2.4m) for the Group.

11. DEBTORS

2021 
(€’000)

2020 
(€’000)

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade debtors 141,078 136,200

Other debtors, prepayments and accrued income (i) 13,952 12,263

Convertible loan notes 316 284

Derivative financial instruments (note 27) 731 314

VAT receivable - Irish 2,301 2,196

Corporation tax:

    - Irish 529 518

    - Overseas 4,981 3,627

163,888 155,402

Amounts due after more than one year:

Convertible loan notes 616 631

Corporation tax

    - Irish 824 612

Deferred tax

    - Irish 1,081 1,060

    - Overseas 389 −

2,910 2,303

166,798 157,705

(i) included within prepayments is €3.2m relating to carbon credit assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31st December 2021 (Continued)

12. CREDITORS: falling due within one year

2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

Trade creditors 87,404 77,667

Other creditors including tax and social welfare (see below) (i) 22,256 18,927

Bank loans and overdrafts (note 14) 8,258 5,791

Amounts owed to related companies 802 655

Derivative financial instruments (note 27) 58 19

Leasing and hire purchase liabilities (note 13) − 14

118,778 103,073

Tax and social welfare included in other creditors:

Corporation tax 813 15

PAYE 636 719

VAT payable - Overseas 212 −

1,661 734

Social welfare 495 460

2,156 1,194

(i) included within other creditors is €1.0m relating to a liability for carbon emissions. 

The bank facilities with AIB Bank plc, Bank of Ireland plc, Rabobank Ireland plc and European Investment Bank are secured by Group Composite 
Guarantees and Indemnities.
.

13. CREDITORS: falling due after more than one year

2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

Processing notes 2,366 1,798

Bank loans (note 14) 86,046 67,912

88,412 69,710

Finance lease and hire purchase payments are due as follows:

In one year or less − 14

Between one and two years − −

– −

With effect from 1 January 2017 the Board agreed to the introduction 
of Processing Notes as an alternative to purchasing B shares for 
suppliers of New Milk i.e. in respect of all New Milk supplied from 
1 January 2016. Each processing note costs €1.00 per unit and the 
Milk Supply Share Scheme requires each milk supplier to hold either 
25 B shares or 25 Processing Notes per 1,000 litres of New Milk. The 
purchase of Processing Notes will rank equally with the purchase of B 
shares for the purpose of meeting the minimum standard under the 
Milk Supply Share Scheme.

The Processing Notes will be redeemed on ceasing milk supply at 
the price at the time of purchase or if a supplier wishes to convert 
Processing Notes to B shares at a future date it is permitted to convert 
at the prevailing B share price at that date i.e. the price determined 
from the most recent B share valuation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31st December 2021 (Continued)

14. BANK BORROWINGS

2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

Bank overdrafts 15 58

Bank loans - amounts payable by equal instalments:

Within one year 8,243 5,733

Between one and two years 8,243 36,412

Greater than two years 77,803 31,500

94,304 73,703

Group loans wholly repayable are secured by a floating charge over 
the Group’s assets.

The Group’s bank borrowings are primarily denominated in Euro, US 
Dollar and Pound Sterling and amounts are borrowed at fixed and 
floating interest rates. Loans borrowed at floating rates are calculated 
by reference to Euribor, SOFR or SONIA of 1 to 6 months depending 
on the currency drawn plus an agreed margin that varies with the 
Group’s net debt to EBITDA ratio. Following the completion, in 
February 2022, of the refinancing of the Group’s multi-currency term 
and revolving credit facilities, these facilities are available for draw 
down by the Society and certain subsidiaries and mature in February 
2027 with options to extend to February 2028 and February 2029 
subject to certain conditions being met. 

An amortising term loan facility with EIB was put in place and drawn 
down in 2019 to part fund the Group’s cheese diversification capital 
project. This loan is repayable in equal instalments over a 10-year 
period commencing in February 2022 with the final repayment 
scheduled for November 2031. Interest rates are fixed for the duration 
of the term of this facility.
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15. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES

Deferred tax:

2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

Provision at 1 January 8,445 6,691

Charge to the income statement for the year 1,979 2,130

Exchange adjustments 400 (376)

Provision at 31 December 10,824 8,445

Other provisions: Note

Long Term Incentive Plans (LTIP) (i) 2,817 1,057

Stability fund (ii) 9,860 10,000

12,677 11,057

Synergy, the international flavours division of Carbery Group, has a 
Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) in place. This plan was implemented 
with an objective to attract, retain and incentivise senior executives 
to grow shareholder value of the Synergy business for the long term 
benefit of Carbery’s shareholders. Phase 1 of the Synergy LTIP was in 
place since 2008 and allocations to participants under this phase ceased 
in 2014. Phase 2 commenced in 2015 with allocations to participants 
commencing the same year. As allocations to participants vest after 
three years, all allocations in Phase 1 of the scheme had vested in 2017. 
Phase 1 of the LTIP scheme concluded in 2019, when in accordance 
with the scheme rules, all vested allocations remaining unsold were fully 
divested. Phase 2 of the scheme will conclude in 2024 when the final year 
allocations for the second phase will vest. The LTIP is commensurate 
with similar schemes in various private and public companies and has 
been put in place under governance oversight by the Remuneration 
Committee of Carbery Group under independent advice. Benefits 

associated with the scheme are entirely performance based and are 
referenced to the additional shareholder value generated over the term 
of the plan. Whilst the actual cost of the LTIP cannot be determined until 
the scheme completion, which is 2024 for Phase 2, a provision is being 
made over the lifetime of the plan for the estimated total cost. A charge 
of €1.7m is included in the 2021 financial statements. This is relating to 
the estimated cost of the scheme attributable to 2021. If certain trading 
performance projections for Synergy materialise in future years (2022 
to 2024) then, commensurate with the resulting increase in shareholder 
value, the total cost of the LTIP will be greater than the cost provided at 
31 December 2021. Any increased cost will be reflected in the financial 
statements of the business over the remaining lifetime of the scheme 
between now and 2024. Total disbursements made to participants 
exercising their option to sell vested allocations under LTIP phase 2 
amounted to €Nil during 2021 (2020: €0.94m).

(i) LTIP:

Provision at 1 January 1,057 1,745

Paid during the year − (939)

Current service cost
Exchange movements

1,734
26

287
(36)

Provision at 31 December 2,817 1,057

Due within one year 344 171

Due greater than one year 2,473 886

(ii) Stability Fund:
2021
(€’000)

2020 
(€’000)

Provision at 1 January 10,000 7,216

Increase in the period − 10,014

Support payments to milk suppliers (140) (7,230)

Provision at 31 December 9,860 10,000

Due within one year − −

Due greater than one year 9,860 10,000

Total milk support payments to shareholder suppliers from the stability 
fund during the year amounted to €0.1m. It was agreed by the Board 
of Carbery to maintain the Stability Fund at €9.86m from which it would 
make payments at a future date to Carbery’s milk suppliers when it is 
required to lessen the impact of adverse milk price movements.

The Board believes that, on the basis of recurring market volatility, 
payments from the stability fund are likely to arise within a three year 
period. The parameters governing the payment of the stability fund 

are such that, in any regard, payment will have to be effected no later 
than 3 years from the date of provision. This is on the basis that the 
supplier co-ops to whom the stability fund will be paid may, at their 
discretion, request Carbery to effect payment of any balance remaining 
in the stability fund three years from the date of provision. Based on 
these governing parameters it is anticipated that the remaining €9.86m 
provision provided for in 2020 will be paid on or before 31 December 
2023.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31st December 2021 (Continued)



73Back to Contents

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31st December 2021 (Continued)

16. OBLIGATIONS UNDER LEASES 
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020

Land & buildings
(€’000)

Other 
(€’000)

Land & buildings
(€’000)

Other 
(€’000)

Not later than one year 694 182 82 190

Later than one year and not
later than five years 2,647 211 232 274

Greater than five years 7,346 - - -

10,687 393 314 464

The Group also uses finance leases to acquire plant and machinery. These leases have terms of renewal but no purchase options and escalation 
clauses. Renewals are at the option of the lessee. Future minimum lease payments due under finance leases is disclosed in note 13.

The Group operates both a defined benefit pension scheme and 
defined contribution pension scheme for its employees that require 
contributions to be made to separately administered funds. The 
schemes are funded by the payment of contributions to separately 
administered trust funds.

Annual contributions to the defined benefit pension scheme are based 
on the advice of independent actuaries.

The contributions for funding purposes to the defined benefit pension 
scheme are determined, using the projected unit credit method, by 
Mercer who are Actuaries to the schemes but are neither officers nor 
employees of the Group. The most recent actuarial valuation was carried 
out at 1 January 2020. The contribution made by the Group in respect 
of the current year was €358,000 (2020: €351,000). The actuaries’ reports 
are not available for public inspection but the results are advised to 
members of the various schemes.

The valuation used for the defined benefit scheme has been based on 
the most recent actuarial valuation at 1 January 2020 and was updated 
by Mercer to take account of the requirements of FRS 102 in order 
to assess the liabilities of the schemes at 31 December 2021 and 31 
December 2020. Scheme assets are stated at their market values at the 
respective statement of financial position dates and overall expected 
rates of return are established by applying published brokers’ forecasts 
to each category of scheme assets.

As of 31 December 2013 service costs in respect of future service in the 
Group’s defined benefit scheme terminated. Effective 1 January 2014 
there is no further accrual of service in the defined benefit scheme, with 
all future service being provided in the defined contribution scheme.

The total contributions to the defined benefit scheme in 2022 are 
expected to be €366,000 (2021: €358,000).

The Group participates in an industry-wide Irish Co-operative Societies’ 
Retirement benefit Scheme. This is a multi-employer defined benefit 
retirement benefit scheme. However, as the underlying assets and 
liabilities attributable to individual employers cannot be identified on 
a consistent and reasonable basis, the Group has accounted for the 
retirement benefit scheme as if it was a defined contribution pension 
benefit scheme. 

An Actuarial Funding Certificate was prepared with an effective 
date of 1 January 2020 and confirmed that the Scheme satisfied the 
Funding Standard set out in Section 44(1) of the Pensions Act, 1990 at 
that effective date. A Funding Standard Reserve Certificate was also 
prepared with an effective date of 1 January 2020 and confirmed that 
the Scheme held sufficient additional assets to satisfy the Funding 
Standard Reserve set out in Section 44(2) of the Pensions Act, 1990 at 
that effective date.

The financial assumptions relating to the return on investment, the 
rate of increase in pensionable pay or salaries, and price inflation are 
outlined in the actuarial valuation report. 
 
The most recent full actuarial valuation of the Irish Co-operative 
Societies’ Retirement Benefit Scheme was carried out on 1 January 
2020. The report is available for inspection by Scheme members but is 
not available to the public. 

The current contribution rate is 15.3% of pensionable pay (10.3% 
employer and 5% employee) for contributory members. 

17. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COMMITMENTS

The retirement benefit plans have not invested in any of the Group’s own financial instruments nor in properties or other assets used  
by the Group.

The net retirement benefit assets and liabilities are analysed as follows: 2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

Scheme assets at fair value:

Equity instruments 3,706 4,852

Debt instruments 19,934 19,945

Cash 238 1

Fair value of scheme assets 23,878 24,798

Present value of scheme liabilities (21,635) (24,798)

2,243 -
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The mortality assumptions are based on standard mortality tables which allow for future mortality improvements. The assumptions are that 
a member who retires in 2046 at age 65 will live on average a further 24 years after retirement if they are male and a further 26 years after 
retirement if they are female.

The amounts recognised in the income statement and in the Group statement of other  
comprehensive income for the year are analysed as follows:

Movements in present value of the defined benefit obligation.
Recognised in the income statement

2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

Current service cost − −

Recognised in arriving at operating profit

Net interest on net defined benefit liability

−
12

−
13

Total recognised in the income statement 12 13

Recognised in other comprehensive income
2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

Actual return on scheme assets 304 642

Less: amounts included in net interest
on the net defined benefit liability (Note 5) (332) 120

(28) 762

Other actuarial gains/(losses) 1,621 (1,126)

Remeasurement gains/(losses) recognised in other comprehensive income 1,593 (364)

Financial assumptions

The major assumptions used by the actuaries are: 2021
(%)

2020
(%)

Inflation rate increase 2.00 1.50

Salary rate increase n/a n/a

Retirement benefit payment increase 0.00 0.00

Discount rate 1.10 0.90

17. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COMMITMENTS (continued)

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit 
obligations are analysed as follows:

2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

As at 1 January 23,789 24,765

Interest cost 206 285

Benefits paid (1,800) (2,027)

Remeasurement adjustments (560) 766

At 31 December 21,635 23,789

The defined benefit asset comprises €2,243,000 (2020: €Nil) from plans that are wholly or partly funded
.

Changes in the fair value of scheme assets: 2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

As at 1 January 24,798 25,534

Actual loss on plan assets 305 642

Interest income 217 298

Employer contributions 358 351

Benefits paid (1,800) (2,027)

At 31 December 23,878 24,798

The contributions payable by Carbery Group to defined contribution schemes are charged to the income statement in the year in which they 
relate and amounted to €2,095,907 (2020: €2,126,703) for the year. The amount outstanding at year end was €97,213 (2020: €425,081).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31st December 2021 (Continued)
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2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

Non-current assets

Pension surplus 2,243 -

Provisions for liabilities

Deferred tax (280) -

The Income Statement and Statement of Other Comprehensive Income pension bookings  
are recorded as follows:

Pension surplus 2,243 -

Deferred tax (280) -

Pension costs and interest (370) -

1,593 -

19. SHARE CAPITAL
Allotted, called up and fully paid: 2021

(€’000)
2020
(€’000)

‘A’ ordinary shares of €1 each 75,805 75,805

‘B’ ordinary shares of €1 each: 

At 1 January 10,486 10,520

Issued during the period 176 162

Repurchased during the period (80) (201)

Share conversions 11 6

Processing note conversions − (1)

At 31 December 10,593 10,486

86,398 86,291

18. GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Cost: 
2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

At 1 January 14,514 10,738

Recognised during the year 1,974 3,776

At 31 December 16,488 14,514

Amortisation:

At 1 January 9,482 9,165

Amortised during the year 518 317

At 31 December 10,000 9,482

Net book value:

At 31 December 6,488 5,032

Between one and two years 404 391

Between two and five years 1,527 995

In more than five years 4,557 3,646

6,488 5,032

The Group received a number of grants in prior years which are being amortised over the useful economic lives of the tangible assets which 
they relate to. In 2021 a grant of €2m was recognised which relates to a final claim on an approved €5.8m Enterprise Ireland capital grant for the 
cheese diversification investment in the Ballineen facility. An interim claim of €3.8m was received during the year and the final claim of €2m is 
expected to be received during 2022.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31st December 2021 (Continued)

17. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COMMITMENTS (continued)
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The Milk Supply Share Scheme was launched for the milk suppliers of the Group’s parent society ‘A’ shareholders during 2012. The 
purpose of the milk supply share scheme is to ensure that Carbery is well positioned to efficiently manage the expected growth 
in milk supply volumes subsequent to the removal of milk quota limits in 2015. In addition the scheme is designed to enable milk 
suppliers share in the future growth of Carbery by the provision of an exit mechanism for suppliers retiring from milk supply in 
the future. During the year ended 31 December 2021, 175,658 ‘B’ ordinary shares were issued, 11,384 ‘B’ ordinary shares were 
converted from processing notes and 79,938 ‘B’ ordinary shares were repurchased by the society under the terms of the scheme.

SHARE RIGHTS
Voting rights:
‘A’ ordinary shareholders have full voting rights whilst ‘B’ ordinary 
shareholders are entitled only to vote on special resolutions. 

Dividends:
‘A’ ordinary shareholders only have the right to receive 
dividends.

Winding up:
‘A’ and ‘B’ ordinary shareholders rank pari passu in the event of 
the winding up of the society.

During 2012 and 2013, the Society broadened its capital base 
by the issuance of ‘B’ ordinary shares in subsidiary companies 
controlled by the Society to existing ‘A’ shareholders.

The holders of the shares in each of the companies to which the 
minority interests relate have no rights against any other Group 
company.

During the year, €Nil (2020: €139,260) was paid to those holders 
of the ‘B’ ordinary shares in subsidiary companies qualifying for 
payment of the annual coupon of 6.5%.

19. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

20. OTHER RESERVES
Non-distributable

capital reserve
(€’000)

Deferred translation
reserve 
(€’000)

Cash flow 
hedge reserve 

(€’000)
Total 

(€’000)

At 1 January 2021 2,468 (6,716) 295 (3,953)

Translation gain − 8,949 − 8,949

Change in value of hedge instrument − − 377 377

Reclassifications to retained earnings (367) − − (367)

At 31 December 2021 2,101 2,233 672 5,006

21. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS
The Group acquired 100% of the Innova Flavors assets  
from Griffith Foods Group Inc in May 2021.

Book value
(€’000)

Fair value adjustment 
(€’000)

Adjusted value 
(€’000)

Tangible assets 13,624 (2,961) 10,663

Inventory 3,485 (1,448) 2,037

Formulas − 4,597 4,597

Trade names − 2,047 2,047

Customer contracts and relationships − 4,541 4,541

Deferred taxation arising on acquisition − 1,049 1,049

Net identifiable assets 17,109 7,825 24,934

Goodwill arising on acquisition 12,813

Total cost of acquisition 37,747

Discharged by:

Purchase consideration

- cash paid 37,166

- acquisition costs 581

37,747

Non-distributable capital reserve
This reserve is used to record increases in the fair value of land, buildings, property, plant and equipment and decreases to the 
extent such decrease relates to an increase on the same asset. This non-distributable reserve will be released to retained earnings 
at the end of the remaining useful lives of the tangible assets that have been subject to fair value increases and decreases.

Deferred translation reserve
This reserve represents the exchange movements on foreign currency earnings, investments and borrowings in subsidiary 
undertakings.

Cash flow hedge reserve
The cash flow hedge reserve contains the effective portion of the cash flow hedge relationships incurred as at the reporting date. 
€376,824 is made up of the net movements in cash flow hedges and the effective portion of the forward exchange contracts, net 
of tax.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31st December 2021 (Continued)
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21. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS (continued)
The acquisition method has been used to account for businesses acquired in the Group’s financial statements. The valuation 
of the fair value of assets acquired in the Innova acquisition was undertaken during the period with the resulting fair value 
adjustments to acquired book values disclosed above with any material adjustments to be made within the measurement 
period. A deferred tax asset of €1m is recognized in relation to these fair value adjustments. The fair values of the acquired 
intangibles of formulas, trade names, customer contracts and relationships are amortised over their expected useful economic 
lives of 5 years.

The goodwill is attributable to the expected profitability, revenue growth, future market development and assembled workforce 
of the acquired business and the synergies expected to arise with the Group after the acquisition. Goodwill is amortised over its 
expected useful life of 20 years.

Acquisition-related costs of €0.6m were incurred primarily on professional fees and are included within the overall goodwill 
value.

22. COMMITMENTS

Future capital expenditure approved by the committee but 
not provided for in these financial statements is as follows:

2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

Contracted for

Authorised but not contracted for

4,235
17,616

7,344
25,171

21,851 32,515

The Group has outstanding trade related gas forward purchase contracts for GBP£4,537,302 (€5,393,203) at the year end. The 
fair value of these contracts was £8,146 (€9,683) at the year end. The Group has outstanding trade related ethanol forward sale 
contracts for €833,000 at the year end. The fair value of these contracts was (€25,500) at the year end.

Fixed Milk Price Schemes (FMPS)
The Group operates voluntary Fixed Milk Price Schemes (FMPS) to offer all shareholder milk suppliers’ price certainty, in the 
context of fluctuating and volatile market pricing, on a portion of their milk supply. FMPS 6 commenced on 1 January 2020 and 
ends on 31 December 2022 and the total volume allocated and subscribed for approximates 0.6% of the 2019 milk supplied to 
the Group.

FMPS 7 commenced on 1 January 2021 and ends on 31 December 2023 and the total volume allocated and subscribed for 
approximates 3% of the 2020 milk supplied to the Group. FMPS 8 commences on 1 January 2022 and ends on 31 December 2024 
and the total volume allocated and subscribed for approximates 0.001% of the 2021 milk supplied to the Group.

The Group is committed to making the contracted fixed milk price payments under the FMPS but it does not carry any forward 
market hedging exposure on the sale of the Group’s products, associated with the milk supplied under these schemes, as the sale 
of these products are hedged through the entry into forward sale agreements.

23. CONTINGENCIES
(a) The Group’s subsidiary bank borrowings and overdrafts are secured by a Group Composite Guarantee and Indemnity. The 
Group has guaranteed bank borrowings and overdrafts at year end of €94.3m (2020: €72.8m) and has in addition guaranteed 
performance bonds and letters of credit at the end of the year totalling €5.1m (2020: €5.0m). The Group has an ongoing funding 
requirement that is satisfied by bank facilities and trade related working capital facilities. Arising from the provision of these 
finance facilities the Group has to comply with certain loan covenants and during the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group 
has been in compliance with these loan covenants. The Group’s primary bank facilities comprising term debt, revolving credit 
facilities (RCF’s) and ancillary lines of credit now mature in February 2027.

(b) The Group has recognised government grants amounting to €5.8m (2020: €3.8m) which may be revoked, rebated or cancelled 
in certain circumstances set out in the agreements. The Group has provided a parental guarantee for €5.8m to Enterprise Ireland 
related to an approved capital grant for the cheese diversification investment in the Ballineen facility and an interim claim of €3.8m 
was submitted during the prior year with the remainder of €2.0m expected to be fully claimed before the end of 2022.

(c) In accordance with the provisions of Section 357(1(b)) of the Companies Act 2014, the Society has irrevocably guaranteed all 
liabilities and losses of its Irish subsidiary undertakings, Carbery Food Ingredients Limited, Kinetica Sports Limited, Carbery Group 
Treasury Limited, Carbery Investments (Ireland) Limited, Carbery Cheese Services Limited, Carbery Group Treasury Operations 
Designated Activity Company, Carbery Investments (Bandon) Limited, Carbery Investments (Barryroe) Limited, Carbery Investments 
(Drinagh) Limited and Carbery Investments (Lisavaird) Limited in respect of the financial year as are referred to in Part III, Section 
A, Paragraph 14 of that Act, for purposes of enabling the subsidiaries to claim exemption from the requirement to file their own 
financial statements with the Registrar of Companies.

Valuable security has not been provided by the Society in respect of the guarantees. The above disclosure has been made merely 
to comply with statutory requirements concerning the filing exemption referred to, as, in the committee’s opinion, the likelihood 
of crystallisation of the contingency is remote.
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24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONTROLLING PARTIES

The majority of the Society is controlled and owned by four ‘A’ shareholders, Drinagh Co-Operative Limited, Bandon Co-Operative 
Agricultural & Dairy Society Limited, Barryroe Co-Operative Limited and Lisavaird Co-Operative Creamery Limited. The Group 
sources a substantial part of its raw materials from its ‘A’ shareholders who in turn source from the “B” shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, total raw material purchases from the ‘A’ shareholders were €244m (2020: €226m). At 
31 December 2021, the Group was owed €0.3m (2020: €0.2m) by and owed €80.2m (2020: €77m) to its shareholders.

Carbery Food Ingredients Limited purchases whey protein concentrate from its joint venture company, Barbery Limited. Total 
purchases during the year amounted to €11.5m (2020: €11.3m). Amounts due to Barbery Limited at 31 December 2021 amounted 
to €0.8m (2020: €0.66m) (Note 12).

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
Sales and purchases between related parties are made at normal market prices. Outstanding balances with entities are unsecured, 
interest free and cash settlement is expected within normal market credit terms. The Group has not provided or benefited from 
any guarantees for any related party receivables or payables. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has not made 
any provision for doubtful debts relating to amounts owed by related parties (2020: €Nil).

Key management personnel
Executive directors and certain senior employees who have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the Group are considered to be key management personnel. This includes individuals working across the Group and 
employed in markets in Ireland, UK, Europe and USA.

Total remuneration in respect of these individuals in 2021 (16 Executives) (2020: 15) is made up of the following components:

- Basic salary cost of €3.52m (2020: €2.89m) paid to individuals and which is normally set at market rates for equivalent roles
- Employer social insurance costs (ancillary to salary costs) which amounted to €0.43m (2020: €0.37m)
- Retirement benefits paid by the employer to provide retirement benefits amounted to €0.43m (2020: €0.41m) for the year 
- Other benefits which amounted to €0.25m (2020: €0.23m) for the year 
- Performance related bonus / provision for future LTIP amounted to €3.33m (2020: €1.96m) for the year.

Synergy, the international flavours division of Carbery Group, has a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) in place. This plan was 
implemented with an objective to attract, retain and incentivise senior executives to grow shareholder value of the Synergy 
business for the long term benefit of Carbery’s shareholders. Phase 1 of the Synergy LTIP is in place since 2008 and allocations 
to participants under this phase ceased in 2014. Phase 2 commenced in 2015 with allocations to participants commencing the 
same year. As allocations to participants vest after three years all remaining unvested allocations in Phase 1 vested during 2017 
and Phase 1 of the scheme concluded in 2018 when all remaining allocations for this phase were divested by participants. Phase 
2 of the scheme will conclude in 2024 when the final year allocations for the second phase will vest. The LTIP is commensurate 
with similar schemes in various private and public companies and has been put in place under governance oversight by the 
Remuneration Board of Carbery Group under independent advice. Benefits associated with the scheme are entirely performance 
based and are referenced to the additional shareholder value generated over the term of the plan. Whilst the actual cost of the 
LTIP cannot be determined until 2024 for Phase 2, provision is being made over the lifetime of the plan for the estimated total cost. 
Further details of the LTIP including total provisions as at 31 December 2021 are outlined in Note 15 to the financial statements. 

The total cost of the above components of remuneration in 2021 is €7.96m (2020: €5.86m). 

Cost attributable to overseas employees has been translated from the local currency to euro at average rates of exchange.

Non-Executive Directors 
Total remuneration paid in 2021 to 11 (2020: 11) non-executive directors was €250,770 (2020: €207,187) and together with employer 
social insurance contributions of €23,017 (2020: €20,621), the total remuneration cost was €273,787 (2020: €227,808).

Shareholders’ loans 2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

‘A’ shareholder loans 17,831 17,831

The majority of the Society is owned by four ‘A’ shareholders, Drinagh Co-Operative Limited, Bandon Co-Operative Agricultural 
& Dairy Society Limited, Barryroe Co-Operative Limited and Lisavaird Co-Operative Creamery Limited. 

The shareholder loans are non-interest bearing and are subordinated to the rights of the banks in relation to bank facilities 
provided to the Society and its subsidiaries including all monies due to the banks in respect of principal, interest or otherwise. The 
subordinated loans are secured by a debenture ranking in priority after the rights of the banks.
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The non-controlling interests related to 6.5% cumulative redeemable preference shares of €1.25 each issued in a subsidiary 
company, Carbery Food Ingredients Limited, in 2012 and 2013.

Carbery Food Ingredients Limited exercised its right to redeem the preference shares and the 5,600,000 preference shares of 
€1.25 each issued in 2012 and held by Bandon Co-Operative Agricultural & Dairy Society Limited, Barryroe Co-Operative Limited 
and Lisavaird Co-Operative Creamery Limited were redeemed at par in October 2019. 

The remaining 1,600,000 preference shares of €1.25 each issued in 2013 held by Drinagh Co-Operative Limited were redeemed 
at par during 2020. 

25. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

26. SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINT VENTURES

2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

At 1 January - 2,000

Redemptions - (2,000)

At 31 December - -

Company Name Nature Of Business Registered Office % Voting Rights

Carbery Food 
Ingredients Limited

Food ingredients
and alcohol

Ballineen, Co. Cork 100

Carbery Group Treasury 
Operations Designated 
Activity Company

Intercompany
financing

Ballineen, Co. Cork 100

Carbery (UK) Limited Investment holding  
company

2 Hillbottom Road, Sands Industrial Estate, High 
Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, UK

100

Synergy Flavours Limited Flavour ingredients 2 Hillbottom Road, Sands Industrial Estate, High 
Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, UK

100

Synergy Flavours  
(Thailand) Limited

Flavour ingredients 888/22 Moo 9 Soi, Roongcharoen, Lieb Klong, 
Suvarnabhumi Road, Bangpla, Bangplee,  
Samutprakarn, Thailand 10540

100

Synergy Flavours
(Italy) Societa’perAzioni

Flavour ingredients Strada per i Laghetti, 34015 Muggia, 
Trieste, Italy

100

Synergy Flavors Inc. Flavour ingredients 1500 Synergy Drive, Wauconda, 
Illinois, USA

100

Synergy Flavors 
NY LLC

Flavour ingredients 1500 Synergy Drive, Wauconda, 
Illinois, USA

100

Synergy Flavors 
(OH) LLC

Flavour ingredients 1500 Synergy Drive, Wauconda, 
Illinois, USA

100

Synergy Flavors
Innova LLC

Flavour ingredients 1500 Synergy Drive, Wauconda, 
Illinois, USA

100

Synergy Aromas 
Ltda

Flavour ingredients Rua Jose De Rezende Meirelles, 3835 Santa
Candida, Vinhedo, Sao Paulo, Brazil

100

Company Name Nature Of Business Registered Office % Voting Rights

Barbery Limited Manufacture and sale of food 
ingredients

Maryland Farm, Ditcheat, Shepton Mallet, 
Somerset, UK

50

Joint venture company

All shareholdings consist of ordinary shares.

At 31 December 2021 the Society had the following principal subsidiaries:

Principal subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31st December 2021 (Continued)



80Back to Contents

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2021
(€’000)

2020
(€’000)

Financial assets measured at cost
less impairment

   Unlisted investments 190 190

Financial assets that are debt instruments mea-
sured at amortised cost

Trade debtors 141,078 136,200

Other debtors 19,920 14,458

Loan notes 932 915

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Trade creditors (88,241) (78,322)

Other creditors (24,559) (18,911)

Bank overdraft (15) (58)

Loans (94,290) (73,645)

Finance leases and hire purchase contracts - (14)

Cash flow hedges - foreign currency risk
The Group purchases forward foreign currency contracts to hedge currency exposure on highly probable forecast transactions 
denominated in a foreign currency. The expected future sales and purchases which are hedged are expected to occur throughout 
2022 (2020: throughout 2021). As at 31 December 2021, a net unrealised gain of €376,824 (2020: net unrealised loss of €339,632) 
was included in other comprehensive income in respect of the contracts. This amount which was retained in other comprehensive 
income at 31 December 2021 and 2020 is expected to mature and affect the income statement in 2022 and 2021 respectively. The 
amount that was reclassified from equity to the income statement for the periods is disclosed in note 21. At 31 December 2021, 
the Group had derivative assets of €0.7m and derivative liabilities of €0.1m.

Carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments held at fair value
The fair value of all financial assets and financial liabilities by class together with their carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet 
are as follows:

Financial asset 2021

Carrying
amount 2021

(€’000)

Fair Value
2021

(€’000)

Level 1
2021 

(€’000)

Level 2
2021 

(€’000)

Level 3
2021 

(€’000)

   Derivative asset 731 731 - 731 -

   Total financial assets at fair value 731 731 - 731 -

Financial liability 2021

   Derivative liability 58 58 - 58 -

   Total financial liabilities at fair value 58 58 - 58 -

Financial asset 2020

Carrying
amount 2020

(€’000)

Fair Value
2020

(€’000)

Level 1
2020 

(€’000)

Level 2
2020 

(€’000)

Level 3
2020 

(€’000)

   Derivative asset 315 315 - 315 -

   Total financial assets at fair value 315 315 - 315 -

Financial liability 2020

   Derivative liability 19 19 - 19 -

   Total financial liabilities at fair value 19 19 - 19 -

Level 2 valuation techniques
The derivative assets and liabilities are valued by reference to current forward exchange rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31st December 2021 (Continued)



81Back to Contents

28. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The escalation of global geo-political tensions subsequent to the Russian invasion of Ukraine has brought uncertainty to European 
energy markets resulting in a significant and unprecedented increase in gas prices, an energy source which Carbery relies upon for 
its Ireland operations. The Group is monitoring the situation closely and taking any appropriate measures available to minimise 
the financial impact to the Group’s operations in 2022. Energy price movements will continue to have a material impact on the 
business’ cost base. Where appropriate the Group has forward hedges in place in respect of energy purchases from time to time.

The Group completed the refinancing of its muti-currency term and revolving credit facilities in February 2022 with its lenders 
Allied Irish Banks, Bank of Ireland and Rabobank and these facilities mature in February 2027.

In March 2022, shareholder loans of €17.8m were repaid in full to the existing ‘A’ shareholders following receipt of consent from 
the Group’s banking partners.

The Group broadened its capital structure in March 2022 with the issuance of 5% cumulative redeemable preference shares in 
one of its subsidiary companies to its existing ‘A’ shareholders. This resulted in a cumulative amount of €17.8m of equity being 
subscribed for by the existing ‘A’ shareholders.

29. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The committee approved the financial statements on 15 March 2022.
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